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                                           Chapter One

Overview of Public Budget
The English word “budget” derives from the Middle French word “bougette”, which means a small leather bag. It emphasizes a bag containing the financial proposals. At its most basic, therefore, a budget is a small leather bag. During the middle Ages in England, letters of particulars about taxes and spending were brought before Parliament by putting them in a small leather bag (a bougette), which was placed on a table before the assembly. As centuries passed, the word came to be applied to the contents as well as to the bag itself, though originally only in the sense of a group of things. 

1.1 Meaning and Nature of Public Budgeting

Each government wants to undertake several economic and non-economic activities and pursue certain policies which have their financial counterparts. Accordingly, the government describes its intentions and policies which it would like to pursue during the forthcoming period (usually a year) and draws up a financial plan corresponding to this scheme of things. Such a financial plan contains details of estimated receipts and expenditures and other disbursements. Such plan is known as budget and it enables the authorities to decide about each individual item of revenue and expenditure.

Though budget is a program for future action and is generally framed for a year, it presents a picture of the details of expenditure, taxation and borrowings for three consecutive years, i.e., the actual receipts and disbursements of the previous year, the budget and revised expenditure estimates of the current year and the estimated receipts and expenditures of the coming fiscal year.

Public budgeting is essential for any citizen concerned with how public money is spent to understand the basic concepts of state budgeting.  Public administration and public finance theorists have propounded a number of definitions of “budget.” Aaron Wildavsky, widely regarded as a leading expert in public budgeting, provides a very simple definition: a budget is a series of goals with price tags attached. Concisely, a public budget is a means of allocating resources and establishing priorities, thus defining competing interests and making choices from among those interests as part of setting state policy on a variety of public issues.

The budge is central in realizing national objectives, goals and programs, linked to the role of government in financial matters. Therefore, the public budge can be defined as follows 

· Public budget is a process by which government sets levels of expenditure, collects revenues and allocates the spending of resources among all sectors to meet national objectives. 

· It is the financial plan of action for the year, reflecting government priorities on expenditure, revenue, and overall macro-economic policy.

Public budget is a policy tool to describe the implementation of public policy. A "budget" is a plan for the accomplishment of programs related to objectives and goals within a definite time period, including an estimate of resources required, together with an estimate of resources available, usually compared with one or more past periods and showing future requirements.

In public administration the budget serves as a decision-making instrument by which priorities are set, goals and objective are established, operating programs are compiled and control is exercised. A budget document is the final product in the budget process and it should be suitable for consideration and approval by the legislative authority, while the execution of its contents should realize public objectives. 

Public budgets are the means through which public policies are translated into tangible and targeted developmental actions. Government decisions about how to allocate and spend financial resources have a direct impact on the well-being of citizens. However, the misallocation, wrong prioritization, abuse and mismanagement of public funds pose a tremendous challenge for the efficiency and effectiveness of development interventions and poverty reduction. 

It may therefore be stated that a public budget is an instrument at the disposal of the legislative authority. It enables to guide the economic, social, political and other activities of a community in a certain direction in order to realize predetermined goals and objectives, the results of which are not always quantifiable. The budget also contains all of the measures needed to subordinate the executive authority to the legislative authority as the representative of the voters and taxpayers. The features of a public budget ensure the unique foundation on which its preparation, approval and execution are based. 

1.2 Purposes of Public Budgeting

If resources were limitless, we could all get whatever we want from the government. There would be no need to budget. In reality, spending needs are inevitably beyond available funding. Governments have to make choices about the allocation of scarce resources to meet competing needs in society. Budgeting is effective in facilitating this process when it forces awareness of overall fiscal constraints, enables the prioritization of spending in line with policy objectives, and supports the efficient implementation of policies.
Public budget serves the following four major purposes:
A) Public budgeting as a political governing tool
B) Public budget as financial accountability
C) Public budgeting as managerial accountability
D) Public budgeting as an influence on the economy
A) Public budgeting as a political governing tool 

A jurisdiction’s budget provides an opportunity to periodically test the alignment of expenditures with the preferences of the community. The process begins with the preparation of program-level, department/agency-level and executive-level requests for the coming fiscal year. The legislative body considers the chief administrative officer’s recommendations, adopts a final budget and appropriates funds by agency and by program for the coming biennium (two years). Administrators then establish financial controls, develop work plans and implement the budget. 

Quarterly reporting and other monitoring requirements serve to reconcile spending with the allocated budget goals. This process assumes that what the community has supported in the past is likely to continue to be supported, incrementally more or incrementally less in the future. This is the normal practice in most public budgeting processes. But the budget process also presents an important political platform to make changes in the selection of policy choices and for the allocation of resources to support those choices. 

The chief executive officer’s proposed budget provides an opportunity to array and prioritize all the functions and needs of the jurisdiction. In its final presentation, the executive budget represents a unified policy statement for the jurisdiction’s services. The opportunity to use the budget to make fundamental and important policy changes is especially important to elected officials and interest groups who are seeking to acquire the funding necessary to support programs important to their interests. The perspectives and needs of elected officials and interest groups may frequently convex with the values and hopes of most public administrators. Understanding these contrasting needs is a useful key to understanding the budget process. 
B) Public budget as financial accountability
The primary purpose of the budget process is to insure financial accountability. This accountability is achieved in a variety of ways, including:

· Limitations on spending through the use of accounting codes and regular monitoring of expenditures.

· On-going legislative oversight.

· Post expenditure audits at the close of the budget cycle.

· A legal requirement that the chief executive officer’s Recommended Budget and the Legislative Adopted Budget be balanced.

· Constitutional requirement that the legislative body enact a budget.

C) Public budgeting as managerial accountability
The budget serves a wide variety of managerial needs. Program managers can use the process to demonstrate what they can produce at different funding levels. With the spending information from repeated budget cycles, program managers can develop unit cost trends and other productivity measures. These measures may complement the productivity measures developed from the agency’s accounting systems. The development of a centralized budget also provides information that can be used to organize a coordinated response across organizational boundaries in the delivery of governmental services to the citizens 
 
Public budgeting as an influence on the economy
The spending and taxation policies of public jurisdictions, regardless of size, have economic impacts. From an economist’s point of view, a jurisdiction’s budget serves the following combination of economic objectives:

1. Funds social service programs for those in need, thus increasing the demand for private sector goods and services;

2. Reflects tax policy that affects business and individuals;

3. Reflects and funds the enforcement of commercial, transportation, land use and environmental regulations that affect the business climate;

4. Funds education and other training programs that enhance the jurisdiction’s human   and economic resources;

5. Funds the direct and the contracted production of goods and services. These benefits may range from the sale of state timber and other resources, to higher education, to the delivery of law enforcement and correctional services;

6. Funds routine purchases and capital projects that stimulate economic activity;

7. Serves to redistribute wealth across the jurisdiction’s residents;

8. Funds economic development efforts to attract and help distribute economic activity   within the jurisdiction; and

9. Provides significant employment opportunities for citizens. 

A final factor that influences the economic health of a community, but is usually taken for granted, is the overall integrity and competence of those who manage the budget and financial forecasting processes. 
Summary of Multiple Purposes of Public Budgets: The multiple purposes of the public budgeting process create a necessary meeting ground for democratic claims that almost always are at odds: competing demands of interest groups, administrative concerns for operational efficiency and program effectiveness, leadership aspirations of elected officials, taxpayer discontent over excessive spending, citizen concerns for ever more responsiveness and accountability, and contending ideologies about the proper scope and limits of government's reach into the lives of its citizens. 

Enduring Conflicts Regarding the Purpose of a Public Budget
A. What ends should the budget serve?
1. Competent, efficient government

2. Protecting the well-being of those who are disadvantaged and unrepresented

3. Promoting a healthy economy

4. Protecting the rights of private property

B. Who should decide?
    1. Experts and career professionals

    2. Elected officials

    3. Citizens
4. Clients 
The public budgeting process bears the burden of reconciling this very complex array of competing purposes with quite different sets of information and expertise that are bearers for these purposes. Frequently, we judge the success of our systems of government by how well they accomplish this monumentally difficult budget balancing task. 
1.3 Theories of Public Expenditure
Public expenditure refers to the expenses which the government incurs for its own maintenance as also for the society and the economy as a whole. These days, some governments are incurring expenditure to help other countries and that would also from a part of public expenditure. With expanding state activities, it is becoming increasingly difficult to judge what portion of public expenditure can be ascribed to the maintenance of the government itself, and what portion to the benefit of the society and the economy. 
Public expenditure has to perform the functions of (1) Protective functions - Military, Police, Court and Protection against social diseases (2) Commercial functions - Setting of commercial establishments under state control (public sector undertakings) and (3) Development functions - Education, Public Recreation, Maintaining equitable conditions for the execution of public business, Public investment and Infrastructure development like public works, irrigation, forestry etc. Public expenditure, hence, signifies the expenditure incurred by public authorities i.e., Central Government and local body for the satisfaction of collective needs of the citizens or for the promotion of economical and social welfare.

Public expenditures are ever increasing in all countries over the last two centuries or in almost every state, and in spite of its growing role and importance in national economies, the area of public expenditure remains relatively unexplored.  State cannot ignore the problems of economic growth and social injustice and miseries of the common people. In spite of this, economists have concentrated on the theory of taxation and neglected the theory of public expenditure. However, lately there have emerged two important theories of increasing public expenditure.

(i) Wagner’s Law of Increasing State Activities

(ii) Wiseman-Peacock Hypothesis.
(i) Wanger’s Law of Increasing State Activities 

It is based on historical facts, primarily of Germany. According to Adolph Wanger (1835 – 1971) there are inherent tendencies for the activities of different layers of a government (Federal, Regional, and Local) to increase intensively and extensively. He propounded the 'law of increasing expansion of public and particularly state activities', which is referred to as the 'law of increasing expansion of fiscal requirements'. His prognosis of increasing state activity states that the level of economic development is a causative factor for the growth of public expenditure. 
All kinds of governments irrespective of their levels, intentions, size, etc have exhibited the same tendency of increasing public expenditure. A number of reasons can be attributed to the increasing of public expenditures such as: 

(i) Expansion of traditional function of the state (Defense, Administration, Law and order, etc).

(ii) New activities (Developmental activities, Cultural enrichment, Social Securities, Subsidies etc). 
In addition to these, other factor which increase the public expenditures relate to a growing role of the state in ever-increasing socio-economic complexities of modern society are:-

· Population growth- The growth in the numbers particularly in developing countries has been a major cause of the continuous rise in public expenditure. Along with growth in the numbers, the responsibility of government relating to public services (schools, hospitals, police, etc.) has been multiplied. To check the growth of population, again, the government has to incur a huge expenditure:  
· Increasing urbanization (needs civic amenities, traffic control, roads, etc): 
· Prices tendency to go up:  
· Higher cost to provide high quality services: 

· Increasing cost of debt services and repayment- A substantial part of the huge expenditure program of government is met from public borrowings. This is because resources cannot be mobilized from taxation beyond a limit. Hence, modern states incur considerable internal and external public debt. The repayment of debt and obligation to pay service charges become huge.
· Growth of public sector and its inefficiency
· Political factor: Politicians, to win their votes try to expand government services and, therefore, impose more taxes. The government expenses keep on increasing without any reference to productive/cost ratio of government services.
Criticism of Wagner’s Law 
(i) Wagner’s Law is based upon historical facts. It does not reveal the inner compulsions under which a government has to increase its activities and public expenditure as time passes on.

(ii) It is not clear whether Wagner was referring to an increase in (a) absolute level of public expenditure (b) ratio of government expenditure to GNP or (c) proportion of public sector to national economy. Musgrave believes that Wegner was thinking of (c) above.
(ii) The Peacock-Wiseman Hypothesis 

Peacock and Wiseman conducted a new study based on Wagner's Law. They studied the public expenditure from 1890-1955 in U.K. The Main finding of the author is that Public expenditure does not increase in a smooth and continuous manner, but in Jerks or Step like Fashion. 

Peacock and Wiseman have considered the role of emergency or abnormal situations such as war, in raising the level of public expenditure. At times, some social or other disturbance or abnormal situations takes place which need additional public expenditure. The Present (existing) revenue becomes insufficient, new taxation for bigger amount of revenue becomes necessary. This is known as displacement effect. The inadequacy of revenue compared with the required public expenditure creates an inspection effect. The government and the people review the revenue position for the solution of important problems and agree to finance the increased expenditure. They attain a new level of tax tolerance; agree to tolerate a greater burden of taxation. As a result the general level of expenditure and revenue goes up. In this way, public expenditure and revenue get stabilized at a new level till another disturbance or abnormal situation takes place to cause displacement effect. Thus each major disturbance leads to the government assuming a larger proportion of the total national economic activity. In other words, there is a concentration effect. The concentration effect also refers to the apparent tendency for central government economic activity to grow faster than that of the state and local level governments. 
This thesis apparently appears to be convincing but look at the previous theory i.e Wanger’s Law in which it has been stated that public expenditure grows due to several factors. Thus, Peacock-Wiseman Hypothesis is still a description of a particular tendency and does not isolate all the relevant causes at work. It must emphasized that apart from various factors like population growth, defense expenditure, urbanization, rising prices etc., which by themselves push up public expenditure, an important additional contributory force is the failure of market mechanism in achieving various socio-economic objectives of the country. 

Chapter Two

Budget Classification and Reform
2.1 Features and Importance of Budget Classification
Budget classification is one of the fundamental building blocks of a sound budget management system, as it determines the manner, in which the budget is recorded, presented and reported, and as such has a direct impact on the transparency and coherence of the budget. 

A budget classification system provides a normative framework for both policy decision making and accountability. In order to meet the requirement of providing accurate information to policymakers, government managers, the legislature, and the broader public, the primary aim of a classification scheme should be to ensure that the budget complies with three key principles of sound budget management:
The principle of comprehensiveness requires that the budget cover all government entities and institutions undertaking government operations, and present a consolidated and complete view of these operations.

The principle of unity requires that the budget include all revenues and expenditures of all government entities undertaking government operations. This principle is important to ensure that the budget is effective in constraining total and sectoral government expenditure, and in promoting greater efficiency in the allocation of resources.

The principle of internal consistency between different components of the budget requires, in particular, that the current expenditure needed for the operations and maintenance of past investment projects be fully reflected in the budget. Moreover, this principle implies that there should be a unitary budget system in which responsibilities for preparing and executing the budgets for current and capital (or development) spending are consolidated within a single central fiscal agency, usually the ministry of finance.
Classifying expenditures and revenues correctly is important for:

1. Policy formulation and performance analysis;

2. Allocating resources efficiently among sectors; 

3. Ensuring compliance with the budgetary resources approved by the legislature; and 

4. Day-to-day administration of the budget.  

Once established on a sound basis, a classification scheme should not be substantially changed unless there are strong reasons; a stable classification facilitates both the analysis of trends in fiscal policy over time and inter-country comparisons. 
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2.3 Expenditure Classification
Once resources have been mobilized, the outcome of public finance policy depends on the expenditures to which the available resources are allocated. In practice, budgets classify expenditures in various ways. The classification system followed influences the kind of budgetary impact analysis that can be undertaken. 
A) Object of Expenditure/Line-Item/Economic Classification
Economic classification is a presentation expenditures and expenses according to the economic purpose they serve, and they are classified in classes, groups, subgroups, divisions and basic accounts. Economic classification shows how expenditure for a particular purpose, say, health, is divided between such classes of economic significance as current expenditure on goods and services, capital formation, current transfers, capital transfers and loans. This classification approach emphasizes the objects, rather than the results of government expenditure. Object classes are used to report obligations according to the nature of the services or articles procured. Obligations are classified by the initial purpose for which they are incurred, rather than for the end product or service provided. This classification generally serves for economic control of resources, but it is sometimes of a hybrid nature and deals as well with the destination of the expenditure or the way it is managed.   
Attention is centered on aspects of government operation in terms of things bought. It has the advantage of encourage accountability (limits expenses) and providing useful information for management. The economic classification identifies the type of expenditure incurred along recurrent and capital expenditure. Total expenditure is classified as follows: 

Current account: Salaries, consumption of goods and services such as paper, telephone calls, travel, etc., as well as other current payments like interest payments and “transfer payments” such as subsidies, social benefits, and grants to state and local levels of government. 

Capital account: Investment in equipment and machinery such as computers, telephones, transport facilities, etc. and other fixed/long‐term assets such as construction of buildings and other physical infrastructure. 
The economic/line‐item classification is useful for:

· Expenditure monitoring and control;

· Economic analysis (for instance, by looking at the shares of capital expenditure,      wages, social protection expenditure, transfers to public enterprises, etc. In           government expenditure); and

· Assessment of the government’s fiscal policy position. 

B)  Functional Classification
A functional classification categorizes expenditure according to the purposes and objectives for which they are intended. A functional classification organizes government activities according to their broad objectives or purposes (e.g., education, social security, housing, defense, public order and safety, health, etc.), independent of the government’s organizational structure. Such a classification is useful in analyzing the allocation of resources among sectors, policy analysis and for international comparisons. It may also be used for tracking poverty-reducing expenditures. A sound and stable functional classification is required to generate the data that are necessary to produce historical surveys and analyses of government spending, and to compare data from different fiscal years.  

Characteristics of Functional classification of budget
1. Show effectively what the government is doing, in broad program terms, the major titles in the classification must cut across agency and departmental lines;

2. Does not identify public work as a separate category;

3. Presents only expenditures, not appropriations or obligations;

4. Major categories kept as small as possible

5. There will always be activities which serve more than one function  
C)  Organizational/Administrative Classification
The administrative classification identifies the entity that is responsible for managing the public funds concerned, such as ministries, departments, etc. For instance, Ministry of Education and Health at lower level schools and hospitals. 

An administrative classification of expenditure is needed to identify responsibilities for the main blocks of public expenditure and for day-to-day administration of the budget. Expenditures may be divided into separate subcategories for each ministry, department, or public entity. 

Every budget classification system must include a presentation of government account based on organizational units – the “doers”- because:

· Budget preparation, review, execution, audit are done by the organization entities;

· For legislative authorization;

D) Program Classification
Under this classification, the budget would frame a program structure to attain a particular objective and specify spending to attain it. We may think of all those expenditures allocated to the set of programs under a particular objective as belonging to a total spending agency which is responsible for attainment of the objective. Program classification groups together activities with common goals and objectives, taking the country’s policy objectives into account. Thus, expenditure is allocated according to programs, sub‐programs and activities, when compared with classification of functions of government broad functions:
· A function corresponds to a broad objective of the government (e.g., promotion of education).

· A program refers to a group of activities that meet the same set of specific objectives.

· An activity or project is a subdivision of a program aggregating homogenous types of work or schemes. 

In contrast to a functional classification, a classification by program takes into account the government’s policy objectives and how these policies will be implemented. Programs may be subdivided into homogeneous categories called activities (e.g., the vaccination activity within a disease prevention program), which in turn may encompass a series of related initiatives and projects. 

Classifying expenditures by program can serve two purposes: (1) identifying and clarifying the goals and objectives of government spending and (2) monitoring operational performance through performance indicators, which may relate to the inputs, outputs, or outcomes of a particular program. 

Inputs are the resources to produce outputs. They are usually expressed as amounts of expenditure or resources themselves (e.g. the number of employee/days). 

Outputs mean the products and services produced directly by a program or activity. Outputs are important, for example, in setting targets for staff to achieve and measuring performance, but do not in themselves indicate the extent to which progress has occurred towards achieving a program’s ultimate policy objective or purpose. 

Outcomes represent the economic or social changes brought about by a policy measure, program, or activity. Outcomes are distinct from outputs, which measure the immediate effects of a program or activity. 

When establishing a program classification, it is important to ensure that (1) clear responsibility for managing the program, and accountability for its results, are allocated to a specific unit and program manager within the office or ministry or department concerned, and (2) the requirements for data collection and analysis are kept within reasonable bounds. A programmatic approach has the advantage of encouraging managers in each organization to clearly define their objectives and to consider what results have been achieved. It is thus often linked to the development of a performance-related approach to budgeting.  
2.4. Budget Reform

The budget reforms have started in the late of 19th and early 20th centuries to promote accountability and efficiency of public budgets. The reforms have generally fallen into one of the two categories: (1) innovation designed to improve the budget type (2) innovation designed to improve the budget preparation process. Budget reform is undertaken in order to design the best system of budgeting that will ensure the effective attainment of objectives, the efficient allocation of resources and better estimation of budgets. Budgeting helped guard against fraud and misuse of public funds. This concern remains, but budget reformers have long argued that a budget system should address other functions as well, such as better management and planning, particularly since most states now have sophisticated accounting and auditing systems to protect against misuse of funds. Efforts have exhibited a common pattern. First, a new budget system is proposed that claims to serve particular functions of budgeting better than the method in use. Some governments adopt variations of the new system and keep using them. Other jurisdictions adopt new systems but then revert back to their previous systems. The most common outcome though is that governments adopt parts of the new approach but keep most of what they were using already. After a century of use and study of budgeting methods, significant changes have occurred in the way budgeting is done. Change has been gradual, however, usually not because a government quickly adopted and retained a new system. 
There are a number of budget approaches/ types to provide information about the purposes of the proposed activity of government and the resources to be spent. 

2.4.1. Line-Item Budget

Line-Item budgeting focuses on itemized classification of expenditures. The entire expenditure is presented through a series of demands for grants. In a line item system, expenditures for the coming year are listed according to objects of expenditure, or “line items.” These line items are often quite detailed, specifying how much money a particular agency or subunit will be permitted to spend on personnel, fringe/extra things that an employer gives as well as wages/ benefits, travel, equipment, and the like (see table 2.1).  The most important focus of the budget system is to specify the line item ceilings in the budget allocation process and to ensure that agencies do not spend in excess of their allocations. In many systems, central budget offices and finance ministries play the role of “controller” through establishing detailed procedures designed to prevent overspending. The strengths of such a system lie in its relative simplicity, lack of ambiguity, and potential for control of expenditures through easy comparison with prior years and through the detailed specification of inputs. Its function is expenditure control and safeguarding of funds based on assigned budgets and the focus is on the attainment of balanced budget.

               Table 2.1 line-Item Budgeting

	Object/Items of expenditure
	Ministry A
	Ministry B

	
	2004
	2005
	2004
	2005

	Salaries & wages 
	50,000
	60,000
	70,000
	85,000

	Utilities
	10,000
	12,000
	12,000
	15,000

	Supplies & materials
	11,000
	13,000
	10,000
	12,000

	Travel
	1,000
	1,200
	15,00
	2,000

	Printing
	1400
	1,500
	1,800
	2,200

	Telephone 
	2000
	2,500
	2,500
	3,000

	Contingency 
	3000
	4,000
	5,000
	7,000

	(Amount are in Birr)


Line item budgeting usually follows a system of incremental budgeting and is effective in controlling and monitoring expenditure management.
Although, line item budgets are simple and effective in controlling funds, still it has a number of drawbacks. Line item budgeting can proceed without knowing the purposes or accomplishments of expenditures, questions regarding efficiency and effectiveness of the program. While there is nothing in line item budgeting that prevents these issues from being examined, the format itself does not require it. In fact, in order to justify requests for increased expenditures it is common practice under line item budgeting formats to incorporate a wide variety of quantitative information, such as workload measures, activity indicators, etc. But the inclusion of such information is not necessarily systematic with line item budgeting and usually begs the question of the larger purposes these measures are intended to serve. Furthermore, line item budgeting does not usually consider planning and policy option in the budget process. These deficiencies encourage governments to develop and implement the performance budgeting that is based on enhancing efficiency and output.

2.4.2. Performance Budgeting

Performance Budgeting is a term that applies broadly to any number of budgeting formats that attempt to incorporate the measurement of results as an important consideration in the allocation of budget resources. Performance budgeting systematically incorporates measurement into the budgeting process and uses the results of this measurement to allocate scarce public resources.

A performance budget is a presentation that clearly explains the relationship between performance goals and the costs for achieving targeted levels of performance. In general, a performance budget links strategic goals with related outcome-oriented long-term and annual performance goals and with the costs of specific activities that contribute to the achievement of those goals.

A performance budget starts with an overview of what the agency intends to accomplish in the budget year. For each strategic goal, the overview provides background on what has been accomplished, analyses of the strategies the agency uses to influence outcomes and how they could be improved, and analyses of the programs that contribute to that goal, including their relative roles and effectiveness, using information from Program Assessment Rating Tool (PART) assessments. This type of budgeting drew on a long-term concern with the efficiency of government and attempted to integrate information about government activities into the budget process so that budget decisions could be based to a greater degree on the relationship between what government did and how much it cost. 

There are important management purposes that are served by performance budgeting. For example, performance information provides an opportunity for administrators/managers to determine whether an organization is achieving its general and specific goals. Because of resource limitations, a manager must be able periodically to assess the current situation against some agreed upon criteria. As achievement is measured, an information base on which to make program adjustments is provided. Measuring the achievement of an objective can also provide an improved basis for developing succeeding managerial strategies, alternative budget proposals and service level objectives. In short, a performance system has several managerial benefits:

· Performance measurements can be used to evaluate specific program or project proposals by comparing planned to actual achievements. Programs can be evaluated in terms of improved performance while at the same time considering whether changes are cost effective.

· Performance measurements can be used to forecast resource requirements in the future.

· Performance information provides an important rationale to justify budgetary resource requests. Performance-based rationales supplement, and sometimes counter, the arguments made by political interest groups in favor of and in opposition to public programs and services.

	Any indicator that seeks to measure the success of a government unit’s achievement of its goals or objectives can be considered a performance measure. The issue is what kind of performance is being measured. The following levels of performance measurement range from those that are easiest to construct to those that are most complicated. Not coincidentally, the measures also range from a measure focusing on inputs to those measuring how well a program helps solve some societal problems. These performance measurements are Input measures, output measures, effectiveness measures, efficiency measures, and work load measures.  

Input Measures. These are the volume of resources (such as personnel, operating expenses, and capital) used or total expenditures (costs) consumed to achieve a given output. Inputs have the advantage of being relatively easy to measure, usually in dollars. Since inputs are measured in dollars, it is also easy to make comparisons of the costs of inputs across diverse public programs.

	Workload Measures. These are indices that assess the level of effort required to carry out an activity. It focuses on the amount of work done.  E.g., Number of applications processed and number of inspections completed, etc. 

Output Measures. These are the quantifying of goods and services performed or delivered to customers.

Efficiency Measures. These are indices that assess or compare how much output was achieved per unit of input (costs). It focuses on how well resources are utilized without particular regard for the amount of service output produced in relationship to the amount of resources required. An efficiency measure relates costs to a unit of activity. Examples include annual cost per prisoner, cost of filling a pothole, or cost per child vaccination. 

Effectiveness Measures. These are the indices that assess how well a program achieved its goals and objectives. Basically, effectiveness measures tell us "how well a service is meeting the needs of the citizens and the community".   Effectiveness is most difficult measure because it requires ruling out the other feasible reasons for why a program succeeded or failed in attaining an objective.

	Merits of Performance Budgeting

In comparison to traditional line item budgeting, performance budgeting allows for more flexible use of fiscal resources and transforms focus from inputs to results by providing the program or department manager a fixed lump sum allocation that may be used for various needs in order to achieve the agreed upon results in service deliver. It improves productivity; linking performance to budget allocation, improves accountability, allows more decentralized decision-making and more creative management. 

Demerits of Performance Budgeting 

1. The “result” or “performance” of some government activities (law and order) cannot be quantified 

2. Many assets of the government agencies cannot be accounted for the terms of unit costs. (Example a research activity, civil rights movement, etc).

3. Performance budgeting does not address the fundamental questions; such as whether a program is necessary at all, or how best to allocate limited resources among competing ends. In other words, it gives more attention for efficiency and effectiveness of resources rather than resource allocations among competing policies. Although, performance budgeting is difficult to design and implement.  


2.4.3. Program Budgeting

Program budgeting is the planning, authorization and execution of expenditure in terms of programs. The classification of expenditure in terms of programs turns the budget into an instrument for explicit choices about expenditure priorities such as how much to spend on preventative health vs. treatment health; how much on tertiary education vs. primary education; and how much on strengthening the army vs. promoting agriculture.

Program budgeting clearly requires not only budgeting in terms of programs, but also the systematic use of program performance information. Only through the development of good program performance information does it become possible to compare the budgetary cost of each program with the results which the program delivers to the community. This means, firstly, that program budgeting requires the systematic development of performance indicators for each program (or sub‐program). Consistent with the expenditure prioritization objective, these program performance indicators should as far as possible measure program outcomes and outputs. 

In contrast to performance budgeting, program budgeting was explicitly focused on budgetary choices among competing policies. While performance budgeting was designed to discover the most efficient method of accomplishing a given objective, program budgeting treated the objectives themselves as variable. 

A program budget requires the development and public presentation of key performance and cost information about each program, including

· The program’s objectives and how these link to national and sectoral priorities;

· The key services “outputs” that the program delivers;

· How the program is intended to achieve its stated objectives (e.g., activities, projects, etc.);

· Key performance indicators and evaluation results by program; and

· Program costs.

Programme budgeting classification, the budget would frame a programme structure to attain a particular objective and specify spending to attain it. We may think of all those expenditures allocated to the set of programmes under a particular objective as belonging to a total spending agency which is responsible for attainment of the objective. If, for example, the objective is poverty removal, these expenditures would constitute the poverty removal programme. It is important to note that since these expenditure agencies are inter-related, some programmes expenditure would draw support from a number of agencies. To explain the anatomy of programme budgeting, let us take the following example.

Table 2.2 General Objective: Poverty Removal

Specific objective No.1 - Expenditure for the Increase of earning capacity Programs

· Elementary and secondary education program

· Enrollment incentive program

· Teachers training program

· Adult literacy program

· Vocational education program

· Labour mobility program

· Skill formation program

· Job placement program

Specific objective No. 2 - Expenditure for the Income Maintenance Programs

· Employment insurance program

· Social security programs like retirement and disablement benefits

· Consumption subsidy program

· Public distribution program

· Price support program etc.

Specific objective No. 3- Expenditure for the Community Improvement Programs

· Low income housing program

· Area development program

· consumers’ co-operative program

· market improvement program

Specific objective No. 4 - Expenditure for the Agriculture Improvement Programs

· Input supply program

·  Irrigation improvement program

· Flood control program

· Land reforms program

· Agriculture wage restructuring program, etc

In this way, there may be as many specific objectives as would be helpful in securing the general objective of purpose. A more detailed programme budgeting will break down each of these programmes into what are known as programme elements. For example, 'Enrolment Incentive Programme' may be broken down into such programme elements as (a) supply of school uniform, (b) free tuition and free supply of books, (c) scholarship scheme and (d) mid-day meal scheme. Such a programme element is considered as the smallest unit of analysis. A fully developed system of programme budgeting requires expenditure to be allocated against each of these programme elements.

Advantages of Program Budgeting
· It enables an organization to purposefully allocate its scarce resources. This clarity of purpose in turn enables administrators/managers to understand how the work of their particular unit contributes to the work of the organization as a whole. 

· Producing a transparent budget. A program budget presents budget investments in a format that enhances community understanding of the purpose and nature of the services.

· Focusing attention on community goals, needs, and capabilities. With a program budget you can bring budget investments in line with community objectives, anticipated or desired growth, priorities, and financial capabilities.

· Achieving maximum use of the citizens’ taxes. The planning and management focus of a program budget establishes an informed basis upon which you can make decisions, thus helping you avoid costly mistakes. A program budget guides you in making sound annual budget decisions.

· Serving wider community interest. A program budget, once approved, keeps the citizens and business community informed about community programs and activities that affect their lives and enterprises. It also provides information on the results of budget investments.

· Encouraging a more coordinated and efficient government administration. Using a program budget to coordinate budget investments of municipal departments will result in more efficient use of limited resources and will limit conflicts or overlap among projects.

· Maintaining a sound and stable financial program. By programming investments over many years, a program budget can limit the burden that these investments place on the municipal budget. Where there is ample time for programming, you can select the most economical means of designing and financing each project in advance.

Disadvantages of Program Budgeting: One serious disadvantage for administrators/managers is that it limits their flexibility to shift dollars from one program to another. True program budgeting is quite time consuming.

2.4.4. Zero-Based Budgeting (ZBB)

The key to Zero-based budgeting is that all departments must define their programs and consequently their level of funding each year. Under this budgeting process each manager has to justify a budget request from the "scratch" or "zero" base. This is done on the basis of evaluation of programmes, its alternatives and also the levels of performance of various alternatives such an analysis is pointed out to help in better ordering of expenditure priorities. Funds are allocated to those programmes which would realize the objectives with an optimum degree of efficiency. 

Zero-base budgeting was designed to control expenditures by identifying the purposes and measuring the effectiveness and efficiency of all activities. The form of zero- based budgeting required the following steps:

· Identify logical “decision units”- The lowest level at which budget decisions are made. Decision units could be formed along functional or organizational lines – for example, a division of a department is a common decision unit, but programs could be used as well. Managers in each decision unit then prepare a detailed description and evaluation of all activities it performs, including alternatives to current service delivery methods and the spending plans necessary to achieve the decision unit’s goals.
· Create a “decision package” for each decision unit that included: statements of intended agency results, preferably quantified; measures of workload, efficiency and effectiveness; and budget requests. The package comprised four funding levels:

· The minimum amount necessary for viability;

· The current or maintenance level;

· An intermediate amount, between the minimum and current levels;

· An increased level to provide additional services.

· Rank decision packages within each manager’s jurisdiction according to policy directives from the manager’s’ supervisors.

· Advance decision packages up the administrative chain for additional review, prioritization, revision, consolidation or deletion.

· Consolidate the decision packages for budget requests.
Planning, programming and budgeting are integrated into a single process in ZBB. Planning implies the determination of long term objectives, programming gives an opportunity to select appropriate programmes on the basis of cost benefit consideration and budgeting leads to allocation of funds to those programmes. This combination/integration enhances efficiency in public finance management.

Zero Base Budgeting involves the following important aspects:

· It emphasizes on all requisites of budgets.

· Evaluation on the basis of decision packages and systematic analysis, i.e., in view of cost benefit analysis.

· Planning the activities promotes operational efficiency and monitors the performance to achieve the objectives.

Advantages of Zero-Based Budgeting (ZBB)

· It helps to identify the uneconomical activities.

· It ensures the proper allocation of scarce resources on priority basis.

· It facilitates Co-operation and Co-ordination among all levels of management.

· It ensures each activity is thoroughly examined on the basis of cost benefit analysis.

· Useful for service departments where the output is difficult to identify.

· Identifies and eliminates wasteful and obsolete operations.

· Necessary to train managers. Zero-based budgeting must be clearly understood by managers at various levels to be successfully implemented.

Disadvantage of Zero-Based Budgeting (ZBB)

· Difficult to define decision units and decision packages, as it is time-consuming and exhaustive.

· Forced to justify every detail related to expenditure. The R&D department is threatened whereas the production department benefits.

· Difficult to administer and communicate the budgeting because more managers are involved in the process

· In a large organization, the volume of forms may be so large that no one person could read it all. Compressing the information down to a usable size might remove critically important details.

2.4.5. Target-Based Budgeting

Target-based budgeting (TBB) is an adaptation of Zero-based budgeting. Recognizing that little analysis occurs at the zero level and most annual budget decisions occur at the margins, TBB concentrates information gathering and budget analyses on a target level of funding. Each decision unit (program, department, division) is given a target and submits a budget for that amount. Under targeted budgeting; agencies strongly differentiate funding requests across the various programs administered by the agency and client groups impacted by its services. Some programs and functional areas are treated favorably in funding requests, while others are not. The percentage increase (or decrease) put forth by the agency for programs within its control is not equal, but rather varies significantly. 
Targeted budgeting has been recommended by budgeting scholars during times of retrenchment as the rational approach to budgeting, even though incrementalism may be the easier approach politically in hard times. 

Approaches of Target Based Budgeting 

A center of excellence is one targeted budgeting approach. Agencies focus on those programs that are performing particularly well, or perceived as performing well, to request larger increases for them. When successful, funding for these centers of excellence programs grows much faster than funding for other programs administered by the agency. 
Cut the waste is a second targeted budgeting strategy. With this approach, agencies significantly cut or even eliminate programs that are perceived to be ineffective, in order to maintain support for other agency programs. 
It’s our mission is a third targeted budgeting strategy. Agencies make larger requests for programs that fall within their basic mission than for programs that are more tangential to the agency’s basic mission.

Targeted budgeting strategies are linked to moderate public resistance to agency financing. Agencies with only mild resistance to financing can afford to request larger increases for some programs without jeopardizing public willingness to fund other agency programs. Hence, larger requests for some programs under the “a center of excellence” and “it’s our mission” approaches do not necessarily jeopardize more modest funding requests for other programs administered by the agency. Using the “cut the waste” strategy in hard times, as well as occasionally in good times, further enhances a public image of agency responsibility and efficiency that accompanies moderate (as opposed to high) public resistance to agency financing. Overall, targeted budgeting strategies are most likely to be used when the budget environment is unfavorable.

Advantages of Target-Based Budgeting
· It provides better and easier direction to managers in the decision units on how to design their budget requests. Managers have a clear target budget and are told the priorities that decision packages should be aligned with. 

· TBB lends greater rationality to cut-back decisions than a traditional budget process by way of decision-package creation, ranking, and selecting. However, the initial target setting is often undifferentiated, so may have a significant across-the-board character. 

· Because targets are revenue driven, Target Based Budgeting is adaptable though lean times and good times. Targets can easily adjust to not only periods of recession but also political choices to limit or reduce property taxes.

· TBB presents a set of priorities at the margins where decisions on spending will be made. 

· Generally, departments that stay within the target have more autonomy about how to deliver services and where to put their dollars than they would under other systems of budgeting. 

Disadvantages Target-Based Budgeting

· TBB gives the departments’ significant latitude to shield favored programs from cuts by fitting the programs within target spending. In contrast, under ZBB, all spending must be put into decision-packages and ranked, including the most basic services. 

· TBB gives decision-makers fewer options than ZBB for cutting the budget.

2.4.6. Outcome-Based Budgeting 

A recent trend in government budgeting involves increasing the level of accountability for public resources-how much money is being spent on each program or agency and the return on public’s investment. Here, service organizations estimate how much outcome they will provide and at what cost. The focus is not on programs but on the results the organization says it will achieve (See Figure 2.1). The outcome budget reflects the endeavor of the Government to convert outlays into outcomes by planning expenditure, fixing appropriate targets and quantifying deliverables of each scheme. 
Figure 2.1 Outcome Based Budget Management Diagram


Based upon the above diagram, outcomes were defined, required resources were identified, projected expenditures were calculated, strategies were developed, and performance targets were established and finally report the results of outcome to concerned bodies.

Budgeting for outcomes encourages innovation in the way outcomes will be produced. The government might also pre-select the major outcomes it wants and establish a total expenditure level for each outcome. Outcome budgeting assesses the long-term impact of each policy, program or agency within its targeted area. Through based on quantitative measures, outcome-based budgeting determines the qualitative result of government initiatives. It observes the level of resources needed to reach goals and objectives and use that information for budget decision-making.

Some scholars argue that outcome based budget are more effective in producing desired results, linked to planning process, more innovative, and more flexible. However, goals and objectives must be identified and tied to budget allocations and also clear communication with stakeholders should be established in advance.

Figure 2.2 Comparison of Outcome Budgeting with Other Public Budgeting Systems Using the Expanded Systems Framework
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Using what can be called an “expanded systems model” Figure 2.2 illustrates how outcome budgeting systems differ from other public budgeting systems. The emphasis in Figure 2.2 is on comparisons between outcome budgeting and the three major public budgeting systems (line item, performance and program).

The primary focus of outcome budgeting systems makes them qualitatively different from other major public budgeting systems. As Figure 2.2 demonstrates, outcome budgeting is the only public budgeting system that makes outcomes its primary focus. 
According to most public budgeting scholars, performance budgeting is concerned with “the things that government does”, rather than the outcomes governments achieve. Performance budgeting: “a budget format that presents government program input and output, thus allowing easy verification of the program’s economy and efficiency”. Outcome budgeting is concerned not with outputs, economy, and efficiency, but rather with outcomes and effectiveness (the ratio of outcomes to inputs). Because performance budgeting does not recognize the importance, or even the existence of outcomes.

Figure 2.2 also draws attention to two other dimensions (purpose and target audience) on which outcome budgeting systems differ from other major public budgeting systems. Public budgeting practices over the last sixty years have provided a myriad of responses to the question: “How should one decide to allocate X dollars to activity A instead of activity B”? The allocation question has been answered in terms of financial control (line-item budgeting); managerial control (performance budgeting); planning and programming (program budgeting), and others. Generally, public budgeting systems have long been held to have three primary purposes: control, management, and planning. All public budgeting systems are said to possess these primary purposes but with varying degrees of emphasis. 

In addition to control, management, and planning purposes, outcome budgeting is a manifestation of performance accountability, it has two additional purposes (transparency and communication) not generally found in other public budgeting systems. Transparency in its broadest sense is taken to mean that governments should be as open and visible as possible to their stakeholders (e.g., elected officials, citizens, interest groups and others). Communication means that governments should provide information about programs, outcomes, and attendant costs in a language that stakeholders can understand. The argument can be made that transparency and communication are inseparable from the concept of performance accountability. Stakeholders armed with readily understandable performance information about the outcomes and attendant costs of government programs will be better positioned to hold government programs accountable. Therefore, outcome budgeting systems are as concerned about making government programs transparent and communicating information about these programs to stakeholders as they are about outcomes.

The target audience for outcome budgeting also differs from those of the other major public budgeting systems. The argument can be made that the target audience for line-item, performance and to a lesser extent program budgeting systems is primarily internal, government managers and administrators. Historically, these public budgeting systems have not been what might be called “external stakeholder friendly.” 

The combination of a focus on outcomes, its transparency and communication purposes and its external target audience sets outcome budgeting apart from other public budgeting systems and warrants it recognition as a new species of public budgeting.

Chapter Three
The Budget Cycle/Process
Development of policies and plans usually coexisted with budgeting process. After government policies and plan has been formulated, the resource is allocated through budget process. The budget process is an ongoing complex procedure involving important policy statement, planning, and socio-economic priorities, monitoring and reporting processes. Moreover, the budget process consist activities that encompass the development, implementation, and evaluation of a plan for the provision of services and capital assets. It reflects government’s view of socio-economic development of the country, the declaration of the fiscal and economic development objectives of the country. The budget and its process is also important document in ensuring transparency, accountability and good governance.
3.1 Characteristics and Consequences of Budget Cycle
Characteristics
A good budget process is characterized by several essential features. A good budget process:

· Incorporates a long-term perspective 

· Establishes linkages to broad organizational goals 

· Focuses budget decisions on results and outcomes 

· Involves and promotes effective communication with stakeholders 

· Provide incentives to government management and employees
These key characteristics of good budgeting make clear that the budget process is not simply an exercise in balancing revenues and expenditures one year at a time, but is strategic in nature, encompassing a multi- year financial and operating plan that allocates resources on the basis of identified goals. 
Consequences
The public budgeting cycle plays a central role in shaping budgetary expectations and outcomes. The public budgeting cycle phases are generating a jurisdiction’s budget is a very complex governance activity. The process has to be completed in a relatively short period of time. There are lots of "balls in the air" at the same time and numerous participants whose work requires coordination. Under these pressing circumstances, the time allotted to complete budgeting-related activities is never enough to meet fixed deadlines. This is not only because the season is short, but also because many participants must keep up with other duties that are not directly connected with their seasonal budget responsibilities. In some cases, there is too little information and in other cases there is too much. There is uncertainty, ambiguity, and a high potential for conflict. These distinctive characteristics of the budgeting season have some important behavioral consequences for participants. 

Still, this disciplined ordering does not eliminate the need to take short cuts. The two most important shortcuts used in the budgeting process are reliance on the principles of “base budget” and “fair share”, which taken together, tend to foster incremental changes from year to year in agency and department budgets. 

1. Base Budget – All agencies, programs and participants in the budgeting process begin with a presumption that they will be able to obtain support for an existing base of services without providing extensive analysis and justification. What constitutes the base may change from one jurisdiction to the next and from one year to another. 

2. Fair Share – A second important shortcut that reduces conflict and the need for extensive analysis in the budgeting process is the norm of “fair share”. At the end of the day when expenditure requests exceed available resources and cuts have to be made, what criteria should be used in funding some programs over others? This question can be answered by accumulating lots of information and undertaking extensive analysis. But this is not always possible within the tight timeframe of a budget cycle. The use of the principle of “fair share”, like the notion of “base”, provides a norm that is easy to apply and to implement. Usually the norm of “fair share” is operational zed by asking for across-the-board cuts from all departments and programs, sometimes even from “enterprise fund” agencies (i.e., water, sewer, and similar fee-for service operations) that aren’t supported by general fund (i.e., property/income taxes and fees) revenues. When you hear requests being made for a fixed percentage cuts in budget requests, you know that the principle of "fair share" is being used rather than relying on extensive analysis. Reliance on the principles of “base” and “fair share” results in a process that produces only incremental changes from year to year.

3. Incrementalism– There are several ways that the incremental features of the budget process surface during the budging cycle. First, as already noted, most requests begin with an assumption that everyone will request a little more this year than was requested last year. Second, there is an assumption that there are likely to be cuts in the original request, but these will normally be small. Both of the first two assumptions about a relatively fixed base with small departures from year to year grow out of and reinforce a third source of incrementalism: the desire to keep past political agreements intact.  

3.2 Phases of Budget Cycle
Although specific activities differ among governments, any government that separates powers between the executive and legislative branches shows the following budget phases:

· The budget formulation/preparation stage involves the drafting of the budget by the executive. It is typically the responsibility of the budget division in the line agencies and the Ministry of Finance.

· The approval stage involves the deliberation of the budget and its passage into law through a legislative process.

· The execution stage is carried out by the executive over the duration of the fiscal period to which the budget law applies. The executive collects revenue and spends money as per the allocation made in the budget law.

· At the evaluation stage, an independent auditor reviews the final budget documents and checks the consistency of the documents with the authorizations made earlier at the time of legislative approval. Audit findings are reviewed by the legislature, which requires action to be taken by the executive to correct audit findings.
The four phases recur, so at any time an operating agency will be in different phases of different budget years. 

3.2.1 Budget formulation/preparation
Several separate and distinct steps constitute the executive-preparation phase. A typical budget process begins with the ministry of finance preparing a macroeconomic forecast (with the involvement of the Central Bank and national statistical organizations in many cases) and revenue projections for the year, which provides guidelines for recurrent and capital spending. These guidelines determine the level of total affordable government expenditure as well as subtotals according to sector or program. Difficult economic conditions usually mean an instruction with limited prospects for expansion of existing programs or the development of new programs and possibly instructions to reduce spending.  

The ministry of finance then sends out a budget call circular to the line ministries and invites bids for their spending needs. Since the budget circular to line ministries includes expenditure ceilings for each of the line ministries, it essentially quantifies policy statements into budget allocations. 

Under decentralization, budget requests may filter up from sub-national government levels to progressively higher levels of government. Estimates for expenditures in the draft budget at each level of government are categorized by line ministry, program, and sector. 

Countries with systems of a federal type (in which various powers and responsibilities are shared between central and provincial authorities) tend to have three dominant levels of budget authority: Central, State or Province and local.  

Redistributive systems of allocation usually operate on at least two levels: between the federal and state/provincial governments, and between state/province and local levels (such as Districts and Municipalities). 

State or Provincial governments (in a federal system) and local governments (Districts or other units) differ from line ministries in that they are usually funded through some mix of locally raised revenues (e.g. property or market taxes) and contributions from Central Government, which may be either discretionary or based on entitlements, specified in the Constitution or other legal instrument. These multi-level systems generate complex issues of allocation, discretion and governance. 

Some of the approaches that can be used for influencing the budget drafting stage are given below:

· Costing of proposed policies or legislation: Includes estimating future needs and resources to support the planning process.

· Marginal Budgeting for Bottlenecks: Utilizes knowledge about the impact of interventions, identifies implementation constraints, and estimates the marginal costs of overcoming these constraints. It can be used to set targets for interventions; to estimate the impact, cost and additional funding requirements of interventions; and to project the fiscal space required to finance these extra    costs. 

· Sectoral analysis of budget allocations: Analyses the impact of the budget on   specific sectors or socio‐economic groups.

· Analysis of fiscal policy and revenues: Assesses the distributional impact of proposed taxes or the sustainability or sufficiency of revenue proposals to fund proposed expenditures.
The chief executive’s budget office gathers the requests made by many operating agencies and consolidates these requests. The budget office reviews budget requests for consistency with the policies of the chief executive, for reasonable cost and logical content, and for total consistency with spending directions. Often there will be administrative hearings for reconciliation of an agency request and budget-office adjustments. Finally, the executive budget document is transmitted to the legislature for its consideration. Law usually establishes the date of transmission to the legislature, so submission schedules within the administration have to build to that date.  

For the budget process to meet its expectations, the executive presentation for legislative deliberation should: 

1. Be comprehensive (i.e., cover all government revenues and expenditures), 

2. Be transparent (i.e., present a clear trail from details to aggregate summaries of revenue and expenditure so that the implications of policy proposals and operating assumptions are clear), 

3. Establish accountability (i.e., clarify who will be responsible for funds, in what amount, and for what purpose), 

4. Avoid revenue dedications (earmarks) or other long-term commitments that could hinder response to new priorities or problems, and 

5. Establish as clearly as possible for what public purpose (i.e., desired result, not administrative input) the funds will be spent. 
3.2.2 Legislative Review and Authorization
In governments with distinct legislative and executive branches, the budget  
document is transmitted to the legislature for debate, consideration and final decision. In bicameral legislature budget hearing usually begins in committees of the lower house of legislature. Agencies may require to defend their proposal. The Chief Executor defends the whole budget. The budget is adapted by legislative processes through a vote. The result of the budget vote is a budget law in government. The budget law provides the appropriation information for budget execution in the government financial system.  

The budget law developed during formulation creates the annual budget. The budget typically includes annual spending limits that are aggregated by organizational unit, fund source, project and type of expenditure such as capital or recurrent. The budget law also includes detailed line-item budget estimates that are used for advisement in most governments. Some government organizations use full line-item budgeting.  

The nature of the authorization granted by the legislature depends both on the budget system and on the nature of the expenditure. Although there are exceptions (notably “permanent authorizations”), these authorizations are granted through appropriations, which are specific authorizations enabling the government and its agencies to spend money. 
The legal basis for appropriations is normally provided in statutory law. Such law should, however, avoid excessive detail, and procedural guidance should be provided by administrative law in order to permit incremented reform. The appropriations including authority to spend typically include the aggregate annual budget, some elements of the line item information and period budgetary controls. Many governments operate with monthly or quarterly controls that are more detailed than the annual appropriation to enable more effective fiscal control. 

Appropriations may be grouped into the following broad categories:

· Obligation-based appropriations give rights to make commitments and to make cash payments according to these commitments, without a predetermined time limit. Such appropriations have their own life cycle and are not limited to one year. This system is no longer used for all expenditures, but may be used for special programs 

· Cash-based appropriations give authority to make cash payments over a limited period of time, generally corresponding to the fiscal year. This system is the most widespread. In principle, appropriations define cash limits that cannot be exceeded, but there are exceptions. At least for goods and services, they correspond also to a limit of entering into contractual commitments. They cover the payments due. In a few countries (e.g., the U.S.), the budget for a few selected programs includes multiyear budget authorizations.

· Accrual-based appropriations cover full costs, for the operations of a department and other increases in liabilities or decreases in assets called expenses by accountants. Full costs are the goods and services consumed (as opposed to be acquired) over a period. Therefore, depreciation for physical assets, variations in inventories and variations in liabilities are added to actual payments to calculate the full costs of a program. 
For personnel expenditure, accrual-based appropriations can also cover pension superannuation liabilities. For a subsidized loan, an accrual-based appropriation covers the actuarial value of the interest subsidy. For assets of national interest (i.e., roads), an accrual-based appropriation can include depreciation of these assets. 

The distinction between assets of national interest and assets owned by a department is an important element in determining the running costs of a department, and consequently the appropriation for the activities of this department. In the same way, depreciation of assets shared by different programs must be divided among the programs. Determining full costs of a program requires adequate costs measurements systems. 

3.2.3 Budget Execution/Implementation
The third stage is disbursement of the approved budget to the relevant agencies, implementation of planned activities, and recording expenditure commence with the beginning of the physical year. This is the process of the transfer and spending of the money which ensures that activities can happen to reach the required goals.  During execution, agencies carry out their approved budgets: appropriations are spent, and services are delivered. 

Budget execution is the phase where resources are used to implement policies incorporated in the budget. It is possible to implement a well formulated budget; it is not possible to implement well a badly formulated budget. Good budget preparation comes first, logically as well as chronologically. However, budget execution processes do not come down simply to mechanisms for ensuring compliance with the initial programming. Even with good forecasts, unexpected changes in the macroeconomic environment will occur during the year, and need to be reflected in the budget. Of course, changes should be accommodated in a way that is consistent with the initial policy objectives to avoid disrupting the activities of agencies and project management. Successful budget execution depends on numerous other factors as well, such as the ability to deal with changes in the macroeconomic environment, and the implementation capacities of agencies. Budget execution involves a greater number of players than budget preparation, and calls both for assuring that the “signals” given in the budget are transmitted, and for taking into account feedback from actual experience in implementing the budget. 

Hence, budget execution calls for: (i) ensuring that the budget will be implemented in conformity with the authorizations granted in the law, both in the financial and policy aspects; (ii) adapting the execution of the budget to significant changes in the macroeconomic environment; (iii) resolving problems arising during implementation; and, (iv) managing the purchase and use of resources efficiently and effectively. A budget execution system should ensure compliance with budgetary authorizations and should have adequate monitoring and reporting capabilities to be able to identify budget implementation problems promptly while giving flexibility to managers. 
The Expenditure Cycle
The expenditure process entails sequential actions taken by officials with different responsibilities. The expenditure process reflects the conf1icting desires in its five parts. First, policymakers decide on general expenditure. Second, central finance officials and line officials communicate expenditure authority from policymakers to operating officials. Third, operating officials spend money. Fourth, officials charged with controlling spending review expenditures. Finally, treasury officials pay for expenditures; they put the check in the mail. In actual situations, these activities overlap.  

Stages of the expenditure cycle
Once the budget is adopted by the legislature, the expenditure cycle consists of the following phases:

1. Communicating Expenditure Authority
Expenditure authority is originally created by policymakers in a formal statement. Authority to spend is communicated to operating officials, frequently in a manner specified by standing rules or laws. Expenditure authority is incompletely specified in formal documents. Policymakers provide flexibility to persons making operating decisions. 

Communicating expenditure authority starts at the top. Usual participants include the executive and a finance office or treasury. Typically, the chief executive communicates expenditure authority to the top operating officials who, in turn, communicate expenditure authority to their subordinates, and so on until everyone with expenditure authority is told exactly what that authority is. Relevant finance offices are appraised of the amounts of money made available to various units and officials. 

On the surface, communicating expenditure authority appears simple. Participants find the process exciting, however, because more is specified in the communication process and less expenditure authority may be communicated than appropriated. Policymakers decide the broad outlines. Subsequent communicators of expenditure authority add limits and directions to those specified by the governing officials. These occur through six processes that communicate expenditure authority: allocation, apportionment, allotment, special approvals, transfers, and reprogramming. These processes are widely but not universally used.  

Allocation, Apportionment, and Allotment 

Allocation, apportionment, and allotment are similar processes and are often confused with one another because of their similar names. All occur before or at the beginning of a fiscal year. 

Allocation is the least common and results in a lump sum of expenditure authority being divided into expenditure categories. For example, an administrator who has been appropriated a certain amount may decide to spend particular amounts on personnel or equipment. This is similar to appropriations made by policymakers; when administrators do it, it is called allocation. Allocations can be communicated to subordinates, who are constrained by the allocations.  

Allotment and apportionment differ from allocation in that some expenditure authority is held and some transferred to someone else. The retained expenditure authority is later released relative to circumstances. Where both are used, apportionment precedes allotment. 

Apportionment is particularly concerned with time periods. Apportionment is a distribution of expenditure authority by central officials among major organizational units for particular time periods by expenditure categories. Its development occurred to stop agencies from spending all of their appropriations early in a fiscal year and then asking for more. Apportionment follows appropriations. Policymakers provide appropriations to organizational units. 

After appropriations are made, apportionment rules are communicated to agencies. These typically include what portion of agency appropriations is withheld to form a central contingency reserve, how much can be spent during particular periods (three months, which is called a quarter, as in quarter of a year, is the common period used), and in what categories money is to be apportioned (usually, expenditure categories used are those in appropriations or budget proposal documents). Agencies apply for apportionment of appropriated funds; that is, they request that executive officials approve reduced amounts of expenditure authority within time periods and expenditure categories for their organizational units. After apportionment is requested by agencies, executive officials approve and communicate their approval to operating agencies and any central finance units. 

Allotment, the most common, is the process of communicating expenditure authority from administrative superiors to their subordinates. Administrative superiors take whatever expenditure authority is communicated to them and communicate most of it to their subordinates, usually without any additional time period or expenditure category restrictions. Other limitations or instructions can be communicated with allotments. 

Money withheld can be distributed to operating agencies as appropriated late in the third and fourth quarters, can become savings on expenditures, or can be used in an area of an organization for which it was not initially intended. The release of contingency reserves to agencies toward the end of the fourth quarter leads to the much decried year-end spending by agencies. Critics tend to forget that the money thus spent was appropriated and would have been spent earlier if agencies could do so. Contingency reserves created by allotment and apportionment are a source of organizational influence for those who control them because they can reward positive behavior with additional expenditure authority. 

A brief recap of the three processes may make it easier to keep them separate. Allocation involves dividing expenditure authority by expenditure categories. Apportionment involves dividing expenditure authority by time periods and possibly expenditure categories. Allotment involves dividing expenditure authority by administrative superiors to their subordinates. 
Special Approvals
Operational units may be required to obtain special approvals to spend. Special approvals can be routine or a response to special circumstances, such as budget difficulties or abusive use of particular expenditures. Special approvals typically apply to specific categories, such as travel, training, personnel, equipment, or large amounts of money. Travel and training are controlledfor public relations reasons, whereas personnel, equipment, and large expenditures are controlled to deal with budget shortfall situations (e.g., a hiring freeze.) 

Transfers and Reprogramming
Transfers and reprogramming describe changes from expenditure plans. Transfers refer to the movement of expenditure authority between expenditure categories. In the case of Agency X, a transfer might be made from Personnel to Equipment. Reprogramming refers to changing plans on spending money within an expenditure category. For example, Agency X might change its plan to hire an accountant in favor of hiring an MBA graduate. Transfers occur between accounts, and reprogramming occurs within accounts. They epitomize control and flexibility in budget execution. 

Both processes begin when operating officials detect possible changes from expenditure plans and decide that a change is desirable. An expenditure plan can be in the form of appropriations, a budget proposal, or an operating budget. Often, broad appropriation categories are used to grant expenditure authority. Still, policymakers expect that operating officials follow the detailed budget proposals presented in support of appropriations requests. Deviating from detailed proposals is generally considered a violation of an informal budget agreement. 

After a prospective change is identified, operating officials may make transfers or reprogramming decisions under their own authority, after approval by superior administrative officials, or after approval by the chief executive or policy-making body. In larger organizations, administrators may have some authority to transfer or reprogram. Typically, such authority is subject to limitation by category, by percentage, or by dollar amount of expenditure authority. Even then, they communicate any transfer or reprogramming decisions to their superiors. The importance of communicating such changes is that they negate previous spending decisions. In smaller organizations, all changes may require approval by the policy-making body. 

2. Spending
In the private sector, money or a commitment to pay is exchanged for some good or service. In the public sector, all decision making and communication of expenditure authority are essential to the expenditure process. Actual expenditures take place only after operating officials determine that they are authorized to act, have the money or resources to spend, and have decided precisely how to proceed, that is, who to hire or what to buy. Public-sector organizations spend in three ways: when they make commitments, when they incur obligations, and when they consume resources. 

Actual spending often begins with a commitment to spend, which indicates an intention to spend money in a particular way. Commitments can be communicated internally or externally and can be recorded in an accounting system as encumbrances. Examples of commitments include deciding to spend money in particular ways, awarding contracts, hiring someone, notifying individuals that they are eligible for an entitlement payment, and approving a credit application or a tax expenditure claim. Some commitments are irrevocable- for example, entitlement payments, credit approvals, and tax expenditures- because they are based on standing laws. 

Commitments made to vendors are frequently accompanied by a contingency statement concerning the consummation of a commitment. Typical contingency conditions include cancellation of agreement provisions, future choice, and budgetary constraints. Cancellation provisions are usually unconditional. Future choice provisions set up a commitment to a vendor wherein the public organization can obtain some amount of a good or service at some point or during a fiscal year. Budgetary constraints occur when an agency does not have expenditure authority to consummate commitments. Even legally binding commitments can be rescinded when vendors believe it is advantageous to assist a public organization in budget difficulties rather than risk losing future business opportunities. 

Obligations are incurred when a public organization acts to create a legally binding responsibility to pay someone for something. A contract entered into without any contingency condition is an obligation. Also, obligations occur when a commitment is consummated by a good or service being accepted by a public organization, for example, an employee works or services are rendered. 

Spending also occurs when resources are used and are no longer available. This view of expenditure is not widely used. The two most important cases are where costs occur before obligations and in the federal budget process. When stockpiles of resources are drawn on or when employees accumulate benefits, such as sick leave, costs are incurred that require future payments. Measurements of such costs are important to monitor future obligations. If not formally accounted for, such costs can create huge hidden financial responsibilities that people in the future will have to deal with. Although the cost notion of expenditure is not widely employed in the public sector, it can be useful. Expenditure controls on resource consumption are organizational controls even more than controls over obligations. 
3. Reviewing Expenditure Decisions
Spending is further complicated by reviews. Reviews take place before, during, and after spending. They primarily determine that spending conforms to all procedural and substantive limitations and requirements placed on expenditures. Routine reviews include accounting reports, disbursement reviews, pre-audits, and post-audits. Also, operating officials make special reviews and strive to meet all requirements placed on them. 

Special review efforts include budget reviews, campaigns to reduce expenditures, and investigations of expenditures. Budget reviews, the questioning of operating officials by superior or governing officials about budget proposals, often simultaneously review past expenditures. A question about proposed budgets is frequently, "How has an operating unit used its expenditure authority in the immediate past and current fiscal year?" Although not as detailed as other procedures, budget reviews can expose various kinds of difficulties. 

Campaigns to reduce expenditures involve restricting particular expenditures to assist an organization in constrained budgetary circumstances. In such cases, the expenditures targeted are usually those most susceptible to being abused. For example, academic departments with constricted budgets may limit long-distance telephone calls, photocopying, and supplies. Such campaigns are often associated with special records on the use of restricted resources, which are periodically reviewed. 

Investigations of expenditures take place after problems appear. Allegations are made that something has been handled improperly. They come from many sources, including members of the public, governing officials, vendors, and operating officials. The most prominent investigations are those undertaken by law enforcement agencies to ferret out fraud. Efforts to deal with abuse and waste appear to be far more common. Public officials often focus on potential problems and apply special efforts to reduce difficulties. 
 4. Paying

Paying money is usually called disbursement or disbursing. Money takes different forms and so does disbursement. A treasury office or officials make most payments, whereas operating officials make a few. Also, treasuries review expenditures. 

Payments by persons in operating positions are limited so they can be controlled. Such payments include (1) payments out of petty cash, (2) payments made by a person in an operating position and reimbursed to that person on submission of the appropriate information and forms to the treasury, (3) payments made from a separate account held by an operating agency not controlled by a treasury, (4) payments made by transfers of budget authority through adjustments in accounting records, and (5) payments made through the treasury from an unrestricted account. Petty cash payments are restricted in amount because of their potential for misuse. Petty cash pay ments avoid the cost of processing small payments through a treasury payment system. Still, petty cash expenditures are documented by receipts.  

Expenditures made by persons in operating units and reimbursed by payment from a treasury are for expenditures where treasury payment would be extremely difficult. Many goods and services have to be purchased by cash payments. Travel and food expenses are two categories that overlap here. Also, emergency situations occur. 

 Payments from a separate account held by an operating unit refer to situations wherein an operating unit has physical and fiscal control of money. Such money is not controlled in any way by a treasury. Money in separate accounts generally comes from grants or agency-collected charges. 

Payments can be made by adjusting accounting records within or between agencies. One unit provides a good or service for another unit, and payment is made by taking expenditure authority from one unit as an expenditure and recording it as revenue to the other unit in the accounting records. No money changes hands.  

Finally, a borderline case of operating unit payment of expenditures occurs when an operating unit controls an unrestricted treasury account, an account containing unappropriated monies subject only to agency control. Such monies come from grants or other monies generated by the operating unit.  

Most public organizations make payments from a central treasury. Treasurers and the treasury office are usually separate from other units to ensure that they focus on the proper handling of public monies. Treasury officials also review expenditures. They review documents directing them to pay monies to determine that those requesting payments have expenditure authority in a proper category and that procedures have been followed. 

The process of treasury payment begins with an expenditure decision in an operating unit. To make a treasury payment, some document is generated showing that a public organization is obligated to pay someone. That document, usually a voucher, includes a designation of the basis of the expenditure authority. In larger public organizations with more sophisticated accounting systems, the designation is an expenditure account number; in smaller units, it is a claim by a particular person for a particular organizational unit or project. In any event, a voucher identifies the person and organizational unit requesting the payment, the expenditure category involved, the amount, what the payment is for, and to whom the payment is to be made (name and address). Voucher review by a treasury involves checking to see that there is expenditure authority in the expenditure category, that the person submitting a claim is entitled to do so, that an obligation has been incurred, and that all applicable procedures have been followed. Sometimes treasuries check that the person being paid is authorized to receive payment. Some of these items may be reviewed by a purchasing or accounting department before a treasury makes payment. 

Expenditure review by treasuries sounds like nit-picking. It is. Such nitpicking, however, safeguards public organization monies. Review of expenditure authority by authorized person by category prevents overspending. Treasuries stand as the last line of defense. The process of treasury review is sometimes called treasury certification, as a treasury certifies (makes certain) that a payment is correct. 

After treasury review, a treasury pays. It makes payments and accounts for them. Frequently, the act of paying is preceded within the treasury by an internal review of the payment. One person prepares the payment, and another reviews it.  

Accounting records take three forms. First, treasuries list payments in their own accounts. Second, accounting records for the organizational units responsible for spending show payments as realized expenditures. Third, treasuries account for money payments to monitor how much money they have in their accounts; they prefer not to run out. 

Payments for expenditures take several forms. They include cash payments, internal accounting entries, checks, electronic fund transfers, and warrants. As noted, cash is used primarily for small payments or for reimbursed items that do not add up to large amounts. Cash is not a favored form of payment because of difficulties in tracking it.  

Checks are familiar. A financial institution holds money in identifiable accounts. To pay someone, someone else writes directions on a piece of paper called a check, which directs a financial institution to give a specific amount of money to a person or organization named on the check or to the bearer of the check, and delivers the check to the person or organization being paid. Checks are a “demand” instrument, which means that a check is paid when it is presented. The consequence is that sufficient resources must be kept in a checking account to cover or pay for all outstanding checks, that is, demands on the account. 

Electronic fund transfers are an electronic version of checks, which use the extra step of specifying the account into which money is to be paid and accomplish payment over electronic wires. Electronic fund transfers are used where there is an ongoing relationship between a public organization and a payee because they require preliminary work of acquiring financial institution and account numbers along with permission of the person being paid to make payments by wire. 
Warrants are written payment documents that resemble checks in most features. They were use initially where there were no financial institutions. One public official issued a claim on the public treasury, called a warrant, and the person holding the warrant presented it to the treasurer for payment. If the treasurer had the money, the warrant was paid in cash. If not, the treasurer made a list of warrants in the order that they were presented and made payment on warrants in that order as money became available. Later, as financial institutions became available, banks took over the treasurer role of paying. 

Overspending and under spending
Overruns are sometimes caused by noncompliance of budget managers with the spending limits defined in the budget, when committing expenditures. Since cash allocated to spending units for appropriated expenditures is generally controlled, these overruns turn into arrears generation. Overruns are often the result of off-budget spending mechanisms (payments from special accounts, “below-the-line” accounts, etc.). In some countries, the expenditure process can be so cumbersome that “exceptional procedures” have been created to bypass them. Payments made through these exceptional procedures are not controlled against the appropriations and are therefore an important cause of overruns. Lack of compliance can be addressed through strengthening the audit system, and the reporting system, and ensuring the effectiveness of the basic budget execution controls.  

Overruns can be caused by deficiencies in budget preparation. Elements such as continuing commitments for investment and entitlements, or the impact of the inflation rate on wages are in some countries poorly taken into account when preparing the budget. Also, particular interests and political pressures may affect budget preparation, budget enactment and budget execution. In some countries, the executive or the Parliament adopts decrees and laws that have a financial impact on the budget even if they do not concern the budget directly. The Ministry of Finance himself must review any regulation or draft decision that can have a fiscal impact. However, in some cases the Minister of Finance may cause the overruns (e.g., through spending from special accounts or unconsidered borrowing for projects). Sound budget preparation processes and adequate institutional arrangements are a prerequisite to avoiding overruns. But in some countries with bad governance, seeking solutions on the technical side could be illusory. 

In a number of developing countries, the budget is under-spent. This does not necessarily mean that there is good fiscal discipline in these countries. In some countries with bad governance, under-spending of the official budget may coexist with off-budget spending. The under-spending problem concerns the official budget and, particularly but not only, its development component.  

In a majority of cases, under spending, as well as overruns, is related to insufficiencies in budget preparation and program preparation. An overestimated budget and unrealistic projections of revenues lead to remaking the budget during budget execution. In a majority of developing countries, the Ministry of Finance is empowered to control the budget execution, through the Treasury and budget advisors/financial controllers. Therefore, when budget preparation is poor, insufficiencies in budget preparation are addressed through repetitive budgeting.
 After the budget is approved, the Ministry of Finance relies on its own views in preparing the budget implementation plan. A monetary committee reviews the revenue situation and may decide that only half of what the official budget actually calls for will be released. There is a budget but funds are released from a core budget known only to the Ministry of Finance, etc. Instruments that are required to ensure fiscal discipline and cash management can be disruptive to program implementation. 

Concerning the development component of the budget, under spending is often related to insufficiencies in project/program preparation. Optimistic financial planning that does not take into account the time needed for procurement or for the mobilization of external funds is frequent. Development expenditures are difficult to plan accurately, but adequate flexibility to reallocate funds from projects that are delayed to projects that are proceeding well could allow satisfactory implementation of the overall expenditure program. Programming investment needs to consider the availability of domestic resources. Including projects in a development budget only on the basis of the availability of donor funds leads to an underspent development budget. Moreover, in some countries, cash-flow budgeting is a means for the Ministry of Finance to take control over a development budget that it has not prepared. Close coordination between core agencies is imperative during budget preparation, to address any conflicting issues during this phase. 

Any analysis of budget execution and the instruments for controlling budget execution needs to cover issues related to budget preparation, and to take into account both the risks of disruptive repetitive budgeting and the requirements for cash control and compliance control. The importance of these aspects depends strictly on each country context. 

Supplemental Budget
Government revenue may be higher or lower than expected based on macroeconomic changes. There may be cash and liquidity issues. These situations often change expenditure budgets and appropriations. Governments often receive supplemental budgets. Special supplemental budgets are often created because of macroeconomic shocks, such as stimulus packages or because of natural disasters. 

 3.2.4Audit and Evaluation
An audit is an examination of records, facilities, systems, and other evidence to discover or verify desired information. This is performed by internal and external audits. Internal audits are those performed by professionals employed by the entity being audited; external audits are performed by outside professionals who are independent of the entity. 
The focus of auditing is to determine whether public funds have been spent for the purposes which they were designated. Post expenditure audits determine compliance with appropriations and report findings to the legislature (or to a judicial body if laws have been violated). Often there is an independent government body for auditing.  
A well-functioning evaluation system permits managers to determine how the use of resources is contributing to the achievement of objectives. Well-focused and properly timed evaluation can: (a) provide the information needed to bring about mid-course corrections in programs and projects; (b) allow for the analysis and resolution of systemic or policy issues; (c) improve the design of future operations; and (d) contribute to strategic policy and program decisions. 

                                                                Chapter Four

Budget Structures and Practices

The budget can be structured in many ways based on the organization’s (or the country’s) standards and method of budgeting. One of the mostly adopted approaches for structuring the budget is under two main categories; capital budgeting and recurrent/operational budgeting. 

A budget practice is a procedure that assists in accomplishing a principle and element of the budget process. It is appropriate for all governments and in all circumstances and situations.  Budget practices must be clearly related to activities identified in the budget process definition. It specifically contributes to the development, description, understanding, implementation and evaluation of a plan for the provision of services and capital assets. 

4.1 The Federal Budget

The federal budget is the annual statement of the federal government’s expenditures and revenues. Ideally, the federal budget is a reflection of values and vision of government. The federal budget is an enormously complex undertaking. It entails the efforts of thousands of staff in the executive and legislative branches; and the attention of numerous interest groups. It consists of thousands of big and small decisions, complicated rules and procedures, and debate over the composition and amount of public revenue and spending. The process is often tense and contentious because so much is at stake and so many institutions and interests are affected when budget decisions are made. Federal budget’s structural component includes the discretionary/deliberate changes in government spending or tax rates in order to restrain or stimulate the level of economic activity towards the achievement of the management area of domestic stability.
The federal budget is a compilation of numbers about the revenues, spending, and borrowing and debt of the government. Revenues come largely from taxes, but stem from other sources as well (such as duties, fines, licenses, and gifts etc). Spending involves such concepts as budget authority, obligations, outlays, and offsetting collections. The numbers are computed according to rules and conventions that have accumulated over the years; they do not always conform to the way revenues and spending is accounted for in other processes.

Budget Authority and Outlays

When Congress (legislative body) appropriates money, it provides budget authority, that is, authority to enter into obligations. Budget authority also may be provided in legislation that does not go through the appropriations process (direct spending legislation). The key congressional spending decisions relate to the obligations that agencies are authorized to incur during a fiscal year. 

The provision of budget authority is the key point at which Congress exercises control over federal spending, although the outlay level often receives greater public attention because of its bearing on the deficit

The relation of budget authority to outlays varies from program to program and depends on spend out rates, the rates at which funds provided by Congress are obligated and payments disbursed. In a program with a high spend out rate; most new budget authority is expended during the fiscal year; if the spend out rate is low; however, most of the outlays occur in later years. Regardless of the spend out rate, the outlays in the budget are merely estimates of the amounts that will be disbursed during the year. If payments turn out to be higher than the budget estimate, outlays will be above the budgeted level. The concerned body control outlays indirectly by deciding on the amount of budget authority to be provided or by limiting the amount of obligations to be incurred.

Certain receipts of the federal government are accounted for as “offsets” against outlays rather than as revenues. Various fees collected by government agencies are deducted from outlays; similarly, income from the sale of certain assets is treated as offsetting receipts. Most such receipts are offsets against the outlays of the agencies that collect the money.

The federal budget consists of two main groups of funds: federal funds and trust funds. Federal funds which comprise mainly the general fund largely derive from the general exercise of the taxing power and general borrowing and for the most part are not earmarked by law to any specific program or agency. One component of federal funds, called special funds, is earmarked as to source and purpose. The use of federal funds is determined largely by appropriations acts.

Trust funds are established, under the terms of statutes that designate them as trust funds, to account for funds earmarked by specific sources and purposes. The Social Security funds are the largest of the trust funds; revenues are collected under a Social Security payroll tax and are used to pay for Social Security benefits and related purposes. The unified budget includes both the federal funds and the trust funds. The balances in the trust funds are borrowed by the federal government; they are counted, therefore, in the federal debt. Because these balances offset a budget deficit but are included in the federal debt, the annual increase in the debt invariably exceeds the amount of the budget deficit. For the same reason, it is possible for the federal debt to rise when the federal government has a budget surplus.

4.2 State and Local Government Budgets

There are governments representing cities and governments representing rural areas. There are some governments, for instance counties that represent both cities and rural areas. In some states, municipal governments provide public education, while in others education is provided through a special purpose government separate from municipal government. Generally, in any given area, local governments normally exist, for the purpose that governments intended to provide a wide range of public goods and services.

Local budget systems, processes, and structures within and among nations reflect historical tradition and diversity in culture, capacity, national governance, and institutions. Thus, no single model of local government budgeting is best. That said, all effective sub national budget systems must contain certain elements that advance the three key objectives of public expenditure management: fiscal discipline/expenditure control, prioritized/strategic resource allocation, and operational (managerial) efficiency/effectiveness. 

Prescription for effectiveness include systems and processes that emphasize 

· Transparency in the definition of roles and responsibilities and decision making, the availability of information, openness of the budget process, and assurances of budgetary integrity

· Comprehensiveness in the incorporation of all revenues and expenditures and full accounting of all budgetary transactions

· Processes and methods to establish policy and priorities, including an outward-looking fiscal framework, focus on service outputs and outcomes, and a classification system that links expenditures to organizational units and purposes

· Expenditure planning based on established priorities, relating spending to service levels and allowing flexibility in the use of resource inputs

· Accountability and control reinforced by comprehensiveness; prioritization; and systematic budget and expenditure reviews, execution controls, and post-execution reporting and auditing 

In many general purposes of local governments, the budget is composed of three separate, but connected parts: (1) annual operating budget; (2) capital budget; and (3) the enterprise or utilities budget.

The annual operating budget lays out the anticipated spending that will be done by all public agencies during the upcoming year. Here, for example, spending for public safety, planning and development, social services, and so forth are identified. The annual operating budget also lays out the revenues that are expected to receive by the local government during the upcoming year. Here, for example, intergovernmental revenues such as state or federal aids are identified, as are special charges for services such as use of public facilities or public approvals (e.g. impact fees). Most importantly, the annual operating budget identifies the amount of property tax revenue that will be (hopefully) collected during the upcoming year.

The capital budget reflects anticipated expenditures on needed infrastructure projects that will have a useful life that extends into the future. The capital budget is the result of a major planning exercise that can be extensive and shows the amount of spending that will occur on capital items during the upcoming year and the revenues that will be used to finance these expenditures.

General purpose local governments often break out public services that have identifiable beneficiaries into separate enterprises or utilities. For example, public water is supplied to specific homes or businesses and public charges for water use can be tied to specific customers. Local government enterprises often are self-financing, that is, annual revenues cover annual costs, but also can commonly receive an operating subsidy from the general local government budget. Revenues of local government enterprises, thus, can be composed of both user charges and general purpose revenues (such as property taxes). 

4.3 The Ethiopian State Budget Process

The budget process is guided  by  a directive (known as the Financial Calandar) issued by Ministry of Finance and Economic Development (MoFED) to all entities listed as public bodies (see tabel 4.1). 

Tabel 4.1 Existing Budget Calendar – The Integrated Planning and Budgeting Cycle

	
	July
	Aug
	Sep
	Oct
	Nov
	Dec
	Jan
	Feb
	Mar
	Apr
	May
	June
	July

	Federal
	Macro Economic and Fiscal Framework (MEFF): 

1. Economic growth and GDP

2. Gov’t revenue, expenditure and sources

3. Allocations to federal, regions and councils

4. Allocations to capital and recurrent
	By 10th: MEFF.

By 25th: 3 year subsidy estimates to regions.
	
	By 24th: annual fiscal plan
	By 8th:

public investment program;

annual subsidy estimates to regions; budget call to public bodies
	By 22nd: public bodies submit requested budget
	
	
	By 2ndJune: budget completed
	By 8th:

budget approved

By 15th:

notification of approved budget to public bodies



	Regional
	1. Sector planning

2. Macro Economic and Fiscal Framework (MEFF)

3. Fiscal plan

4. Budget strategy paper

5. Grant formula update


	By 31st:

budget call and pre-ceilings to regional sector bureau
	
	
	
	By 31st May: final ceilings and budget call to sector bureau
	By 30th  June:

budget completed 
	By 8th:

budget approved

By 15th:

notification of approved subsidy to regions



	Local
	1. Community consultations within initial expenditure ceilings (based on current year’s budget)

2. Sector planning

3. Fiscal plan

4. Budget strategy paper


	By 15th:

budget call and pre-ceilings to sector offices
	
	
	
	By 10th  June: final ceilings and budget call to sector offices
	By 10th:

budget completed

By 15th:

budget approved

By 21st:

notification of approved budget to public bodies




This directive has a schedule to ensure that planning and budgeting are prepared, approved, appropriated and executed accordingly. Planning, budgeting and financial management have been devolved to public bodies, regional and woreda governments and regional and woreda sector bureau and offices. With this degree of devolution, it is critical that the planning and budgeting cycle at each level is harmonized and coordinated. 

The existing budget process of Ethiopia falls into four phases: 


· The policy planning phase – the planning cycle; 

· The budgeting phase – budget preparation and recommendations;    see on Table 4.1 

· Budget execution and implementation phase;

· The budget audit and evaluation phase –performance review.

I. PLANNING CYCLE

There are three stages in the Planning Cycle:

· The macro-economic and fiscal framework;

· Notification of the three-year subsidy estimates; and the

· Preparation of the annual fiscal plan.

These three planning documents must be consistent with higher-level national planning strategies; the latest being the Growth and Transformation Plan (GTP) and sectoral planning strategies. 

Stage 1: The Macro-economic and fiscal framework (MEFF) 

MOFED is responsible for the preparation and maintenance of a rolling five year Macro Economic and Fiscal Framework (MEFF), and to have it presented to the Council of Ministers for their approval. The MEFF provides, forecast of economic growth and GDP; government revenues and expenditures, and sources of financing; the allocation between federal government expenditures and the total subsidies to regions and administrative councils and the allocation between capital and recurrent expenditures for the federal government.

Stage 2: Notification of the three-year subsidy estimates

Using the approved subsidy formula and based on the approved MEFF, MOFED will prepare a rolling three year estimate of subsidies to each regional government and administrative council, and notify them of these estimates by November 25 each year. The subsidy formula takes account the following parameters: 

· Index of population, 

· The level of development- it combines index of unit expenditure variable and sector indicators of development in areas such as education, health, road, and access to water. These are proxy indicators of the level of development variation across regions.

· Index of revenue generating capacity of each region 

· Poverty Index- The introduction of this variable is an important development provided that reliable data could be generated to monitor the level and changes in poverty across regions. Since it measures directly the resource needs of regions to address such a critical problem in the system, the indicators of poverty as a gauge to distribute public resources and preferably to finance programs that would enable the poor have opportunities to escape chronic poverty on a sustainable basis would have important growth and fiscal implications.

The grant subsidy formula has been frequently adjusted to improve fair distribution of resources and encouraging efficiency and effort of regional governments to mobilize resources from local sources.

Stage 3 Preparation of the annual fiscal plan  

The final stage of the planning cycle is the preparation of the Annual Fiscal Plan by MOFED. The Annual Fiscal Plan is a detailed estimate of the revenue, expenditure (including subsidies) and financing requirements for the coming fiscal year. The Annual Fiscal Plan provides a more detailed and accurate set of estimates than are available from the first year of the MEFF. By definition, the MEFF is a high level macro set of estimates, and the MEFF is prepared early in the planning cycle (i.e. October). The Annual Fiscal Plan on the other hand is built from the bottom up (i.e. from each public body), and is prepared using more recent data on revenue and expenditure trends and forecasts (i.e. in January).  

With these three important planning documents available, work can start on the preparation of the annual budget itself.

II. The budgeting phase – Budget Preparation and Recommendations 

There are ten major stages in this budgeting phase:

Stage 1 – Budget preparation by public bodies

Each public body needs to take the initiative to start budget preparations before they receive the budget call letter from MOFED with their budget ceilings. There is much preliminary budget preparation work they can carry out prior to receiving the official budget call letter. This preliminary work is dominated by the policy and planning aspects of budgeting; that which differentiates program budget from line item budgeting. This preliminary work can be summarized as follows, for federal, regional and local organizations.

	Federal
	1. Individual organization’s ARISIP (a) last year’s performance 

2. Preliminary budgeting based on last year’s allocation


	Regional
	1. Integrated GTP (i.e. regional development plan – new or update)

2. Individual organization’s ARISIP (a) last year’s performance 

3. Preliminary budgeting based on last year’s allocation


	Local
	1. Integrated GTP (i.e. local development plan – new or update

1. Individual organization’s ARISIP (a) last year’s performance
2. Preliminary budgeting based on last year’s allocation



Note: ARISIP- Annual Report, Infrastructure and Service Improvement Plan

Stage 2 – Mid-year program review  

Regular reviews of organizational performance through program budget are part of normal management practice. A mid-year review of program performance should be carried out by the end of January. The review should be conducted in the context of the program budget measurement framework; the economy of inputs, the efficiency of outputs and the effectiveness of impact. This will apply to the integrated nature of capital and recurrent expenditure, in the program budget format. 

Stage 3 – Work plan preparation – redefined as program construction 

In program budget terms, a work plan is something that is prepared after the budget is approved. That is to say, the budget defines the total amount of expenditure. The subsequent work plan defines ‘for what’ and ‘when’ the expenditure will be incurred within the year, monthly! The work plan therefore takes on two roles. First is project management – when things will be implemented, plus its monthly expenditure. Secondly is the quarterly budget review role, through variance analysis. With this principle accepted Stage 3 of the budget cycle concerns program construction; introduced, from a policy perspective. 

Program construction

The core task in budget preparation is program construction. Program construction concerns both capital and recurrent expenditure. Programs specify in detail, the targeted outputs, the activities to achieve them, and the inputs required. 

Stage 4 – Notification of annual subsidy

Using the approved subsidy formula, MOFED prepares the budget for the subsidies to regional governments and administrative councils. MoFED will notify each regional government and administrative council of their annual subsidy by February 8.

Stage 5 – Issue of the budget call

The Budget Call is a letter from MoFED sent to all public bodies which provides them with the following: 

· Their ceiling for program expenditure for the coming fiscal year;

· The deadline for submitting their budget request;

· A review of the policies that affect the expenditure of public bodies;

· General guidelines for the preparation of the program budget submission; and

· Detailed instructions and formats for preparing the request for the program budgets.

In deciding the allocations for capital outputs in programs, MoFED will consider the progress on implementation of existing projects, whether any new projects have been approved by Government, and the capacity of public bodies to implement the projects in their work plans. In deciding the allocations for recurrent outputs in programs to public bodies, MoFED will review the effectiveness of programs in each public body, whether any new programs have been approved by Government and whether there have been any changes to structures of ministries or departments.  

The Budget Call informs public bodies not only what their ceilings are and how and when to prepare their budget requests but also, the formats for submitting these requests.  MOFED will issue the Budget Call letter to all public bodies by February 8 of each year.

Stage 6 – Budget Requests

The ‘budget request’ stage of the budget cycle begins when public bodies receive the Budget Call. The central task for public bodies during the request stage is to fit their request within the budget ceiling issued in the Budget Call.  To “fit” the request, two tasks have to be completed by public bodies:

· Adjust their program budgets to the budget ceiling notified; and 

· Complete the necessary forms for submitting their program budget requests to MOFED.

Stage 7 - Budget Hearings

Having received the budget requests from public bodies, and before preparing a draft recommended budget, MoFED will conduct ‘budget hearings’.  These hearings are designed to respond to any issues raised during MoFED’s initial review of any public body’s program budget. Officials from each public body will be questioned about their budget requests, and sometimes invited to submit additional supporting information. The information obtained from these budget hearings enables MoFED to proceed to the preparation of a draft recommended budget.

Stage 8 - Preparation of the draft recommended budget

The draft recommended budget is the consolidated budget that MOFED prepares and submits to the Council of Ministers. In turn, the Council reviews it and recommends it to the Council of Peoples’ Representatives. MoFED prepares the draft recommended budget based on the budget requests it has received from all of the public bodies, and from up to date information on resources that will be available to fund expenditures.  During this stage, the budget requests from public bodies are reviewed, adjusted and consolidated into a single budget for capital and recurrent expenditure. 

The draft recommended program budget will be finalized by MOFED and printed from the (revised) computerized budget system. MOFED is required to submit its draft recommended budget to the Council of Ministers by May 23.

Stage 9 - Recommended budget reviewed by council of ministers

The Council of Ministers receives the draft recommended budget from MoFED, and carries out its own review of that draft recommended budget. The Council of Ministers will carry out its review from the 3rd week of May to the first week of June (15 days). The Council of Ministers may ask MoFED to make adjustments or revisions to the draft recommended budget before the Council ‘recommends’ it to the House of Peoples’ Representatives. MoFED will make these changes using the computerized budget system, and then provide the Council of Ministers with the recommended budget.

The recommended budget must be submitted by the Council of Ministers to the House of Peoples’ Representatives no later than June 7.

The recommended budget is now ready for review, approval and appropriation by the House of Peoples’ Representatives.  

Stage 10 – Legislative approval and appropriation of the budget

The recommended budget will be presented in a Budget Speech by the Minister of Finance, to the House of Peoples’ Representatives (HPR), on a designated date. After consideration, HPR will send the budget document to the Permanent Budget Committee (PBC) for further scrutiny. PBC, in the presence of MoFED officials, will then invite selected stakeholders to finalize consultation on the annual budget. Once approved by the House of Peoples’ Representatives, the ‘recommended budget’ becomes the ‘approved budget’. However, the expenditures proposed in the approved budget cannot be implemented until an appropriation law is also proclaimed by the House of Peoples’ Representatives.

It is important to distinguish between the approved budget and the annual appropriations. The budget that is approved by the House of Peoples’ Representatives is a detailed budget. An appropriation is a legal mandate to spend money out of the consolidated fund.

The House of Peoples’ Representatives is required to vote on the annual appropriations for the approved budget no later than July 7. The appropriation Proclamation will specify the following; first, for government as a whole:

· Total revenue source; both domestic and external;

· Total federal recurrent expenditure;

· Total federal capital expenditure;

· Total of all subsidies to regional governments and administrative councils; and

· The total subsidy for each regional government and administrative councils.

Then, for each public body (based on program budget form)

· Total budget for each public body;

· Total budget for each program;

· Total budget for each output; and 

· Source of funding for each output.

The approved budget includes the appropriation Proclamation, as well as more detailed schedules of the budgeted allocations to and within each public body, and of forecast revenue collections by each public body. The approved budget and the annual appropriations can now be referred to as the Proclaimed Budget, and is published in the Negarit Gazeta – ready for implementation.  Copies are distributed to all public bodies and made available of the MoFED website.

III. Budget Execution and Implementation
After the House of Peoples’ Representatives has approved the budget, it is the responsibility of the public bodies to implement that budget. Implementation of the approved budget is known as budget execution. 
1. Budget notification

It is the responsibility of MoFED to inform all public bodies of their approved budget.  MOFED will notify public bodies of their approved budgets between July 8–15.  
2. Receipt of approved budget and changes to plans by public bodies

After each public body has received notification of its approved budget from MoFED, there are two tasks to be completed to implement its budget.  First each public body’s head will amend his / her ARISIP, to reflect the approved budget. The ARISIP will then be available to the public. This represents the finalization of the de facto/actual performance agreement between the public body’s head and MoFED. 

Secondly, each public body will submit its annual work plan to MoFED. This establishes the monthly expenditure predictions for each output within each program. This is the key to Treasury’s cash management at the federal level. 

Each public body is required to enter details of its notified approved budget on to their budget expenditure subsidiary ledger cards for each budget institution, its programs and its outputs.  The budget expenditure subsidiary ledger cards are used to keep track of approved budget, budget adjustments/transfers, supplements and commitments.

3. Budget execution and implementation

The approved budget is implemented by public bodies over the course of the financial year, (i.e. from July 8 to July 7 of the next calendar year). An approved budget that has been published in the Negarit Gazeta and allocated by MoFED is the legal authority to spend government funds.  In addition, the approved budget directs how the funds can be spent. Expenditure in excess of budgeted amounts is a violation of the law.  

4. Unforeseen circumstances

Although planning and budget processes should be thorough and attempt to anticipate needs of the next year, not all future circumstances can be foreseen with accuracy.  When the situation demands, the approved budget can be legally adjustments are not desirable and can be avoided, to a great extent, by proper planning and budgeting.  There are two types of budget adjustments permitted by law.  These are:

Budget transfer - moving budgeted funds between public bodies, budget institutions, programs, without changing the total approved budget. It is authorized by the Financial Administration Proclamation of 2009 and the draft Financial Regulations of 2010, subject to certain restrictions, and subject to the required level of approval or authorization. These restrictions and authorizations are described in those Proclamations. Only after approval has been received should any transfer be registered on the budget expenditure subsidiary ledger cards by public bodies.

Supplementary budget- the total approved budget can be increased with the approval of the House of Peoples’ Representatives on recommendation of the House of Ministers. During a budget year, while an approved budget is in the process of being implemented, it is possible that:

· An unforeseen or urgent need for increased expenditures arises, (e.g. a natural disaster); 

· A new project, not included in the original approved budget, is approved for commencement during the budget year 

· Additional resources become available (e.g. from external assistance or loans) that can fund increased total expenditures, including any new projects.  

Any of these circumstances may require additional expenditure during the budget year by a public body beyond those in the approved budget.  In these circumstances a supplementary budget and supplementary appropriation are required.  A budget supplement is additional authority to spend beyond the original approved budget. As such, it requires the fresh approval of the House of Peoples’ Representatives on the recommendation of the Council of Ministers.  

Supplementary budgets are coordinated and prepared by MoFED, based on requests or proposals received from public bodies.  Public bodies are required to prepare their supplementary budget requests in writing and submit these to MoFED. 

 MoFED notifies public bodies of their approved supplementary budget. The budget expenditure subsidiary ledger card must be kept up to date by public bodies so as to show the correct adjusted budget and to prevent any overspending or over commitment of funds available.

5. Adjusted Budget

The adjusted budget is the budget that includes:

· The original approved budget,

· All approved budget transfers, and

· All approved supplementary budgets.

All transfers and supplements must be approved prior to being recorded in the register specified by MoFED, i.e. the budget expenditure subsidiary ledger card.
6. Delays in budget approval 

In rare circumstances it is possible that the preparation of a budget and approval of a budget by the House of Peoples’ Representatives may be delayed and not be ready in time for the commencement of the new fiscal year. In these circumstances the Financial Proclamation of 2009 authorizes MoFED to implement the same recurrent budget as the previous financial year on a monthly basis until a new budget is approved.  Similarly, MoFED is authorized to release funds for previously approved capital projects until a new capital budget is approved.
    IV Budget Audit and Evaluation  

This stage deals with performance review. According to Endawke T. (2009) the budget evaluation of Ethiopia begins at the institutional level by the internal auditor. The finance laws require the internal auditor to produce a monthly report stating the monthly revenue and expenditure of the institution and this report is sent to the finance office of the level of administration. At the federal level, all public bodies which execute the federal fund should account monthly, quarterly, semi-annually and annually to the Ministry of Finance. 

The state governments are also required to report to the Ministry of Finance corresponding to the financial reporting system of the federal government. Accordingly, they are required to submit financial reports monthly, quarterly, semi-annually and annually to the finance ministry. The report should at least contain 'the details of their receipts and disbursements; their cash balances and levels of outstanding debt; and their performance against the objectives stated in their subsidy requests’. The federal government, through the Ministry of Finance and the Auditor General, also has the power to conduct an audit of the federal offices as well as the state governments concerning the use of subsidy grants they have received from the federal government. 

Budget evaluation at the regional level has to be done formally every quarter on the basis of the activity reports submitted by each sector bureau. All state government institutions have to be audited by internal and external auditors. And the audit reports have to be published. The whole purpose of the evaluation process is to reassess (the approved budget) the progress achieved and the remaining activities. This helps to take timely action by the regional council or the finance bureau such as to study the problems encountered by the responsible office, or to reallocate the remaining amount of the budget. 

At the federal as well as at the regional level, internal auditing is conducted more regularly (statistically) than the external one, but less effectively due to incapacity problems. But most of the projects financed by foreign assistance and foreign aid are regularly audited by external (non-governmental) auditing firms. 

4.4 Local Government Budget Processes in Ethiopia

Ethiopia is a Federal State and the Constitution of 1994 mandates a federal structure with considerable autonomy to the regions in administrative and fiscal matters. It consists of nine Regions and two City Administrations (Administrative Councils) that are treated as regions. These entities are Sub-National (SN) Governments accountable to their citizens and have wide-ranging revenue and expenditure responsibilities. Most of their resources come from transfers from Federal government via a block grant system. At the centre of the financial management structure in each region is the Regional Bureau of Finance and Economic Development (BOFED) responsible to the Regional Council. BOFEDs are required to prepare annual budgets and accounts of the Regional bureau and the consolidated accounts of the Region. These have then to be audited by the Regional Auditor General and submitted to the Regional Council. At a lower level there are woreda (or district) Sub-National (SN) administrations. Basic service delivery relating to health and primary education is delivered by woredas. 

The regions’ budget planning processes start by estimating the budget sources. The budget estimates made by Regional Bureaus of Finance and Economic Development (BOFED) of the available sources of own revenue and the amount resource coming from the federal block grant. These estimates are usually based on the regions’ three- or five-year plans and on the Federal Government’s three year estimates of the subsidy.

The Regional budget calls is issued and sent to sector offices and Woreda office; Finance and Economic Development (WOFED) between January and May. With the budget call, directives, a manual for budget preparation and the federal and regional policy priorities for the coming fiscal year are included and distributed.

BOFED prepares two indicative budget figures; one for the sector bureaus at regional level and one for the Woredas and urban administrations. In most regions, zones are merely serving as a bridge for transfer of information and money, and in yet others they have no function in relation to the budget process. 

After getting the actual amount of federal Block Grant, BOFEDs allocates budget to regional sector offices and Woredas. Allocation to sector offices is based on (a) last year expenditure, and (b) new recurrent activities and capital projects. Allocation for Woredas is based on the regional transfer formula. Regions allocate more than 2/3rd of their budget shares to Woredas administrations.

The annual budget process at regional level has to go through the following six basic stages for the cycle to be complete:

Budget Preparation; BOFED estimates physical resources available: federal subsidy, and own revenue. Regional bureaus, zonal offices, Woredas and urban administrations submit draft budget plans to BOFED, with careful distinctions made between recurrent and capital budgets.

Review; BOFED reviews the draft budget and then passes to the Regional Cabinet for endorsement. 

Approval; The Regional Cabinet discusses and endorses the budget and transfer formula. The endorsed budget is then presented to the Regional Council (elected representatives of citizens from Woredas and urban administrations) for appropriation and allocations to sector bureaus, zonal offices, Woredas and urban administrations.

Appropriation; After approved budgets have been determined and adjusted, allocations are made. BOFED notifies each sector office of its respective budget. After receiving the Budget Notification, sector bureaus, Woredas and urban administrations are supposed to finalize their budgets within approximately one month’s time by making minor adjustments on their programs within the limit of their budget.

Expenditure; Budget implementation by different bureaus, offices, Woredas and urban administrations takes place and detailed records are kept. 

Auditing; Regional BOFED auditors reconcile expenditures with approved budgets and make sure that there have been no financial irregularities.

Chapter five
Capital Budgeting
Capital budgeting or capital expenditure budget is a process of making decisions regarding investments in fixed assets such as land, building, machinery or furniture. The word investment refers to the expenditure which is required to be made in connection with the acquisition and the development of long-term facilities including fixed assets. It refers to process by which management selects those investment proposals which are worthwhile for investing available funds. For this purpose, management is to decide whether or not to acquire, or add to or replace fixed assets in the light of overall objectives of the organization. 
5.1. Capital Improvements Program (CIP)
A capital improvements program is a blueprint for planning a community's capital projects. A CIP is a multiyear planning instrument used by governments to identify needed capital projects (the maintenance, repair and rehabilitation of existing infrastructure as well as the construction of buildings, utility systems, roadways, bridges, parks, landfills and heavy equipment which have a high cost and a useful life of several years); the project appropriations or spending that must be incurred to make those needs a reality; the sources of financing for the projects; and the impact of the projects on future operating budgets. A CIP is not a static document. It should be reviewed every year to reflect changing priorities, unexpected events and opportunities.
Purpose of Capital Improvements Program (CIP)
A. Mechanism for formal decision making

A CIP provides government with a process for the planning and budgeting of capital needs. A CIP answers such questions as what to buy, build, or repair and when to buy or build. It is a useful tool for prioritizing of capital projects.

B. A link to long range plans 
A CIP serves as a link to the planning process and should be developed with the land use plan, strategic plan and other long range plans. When determining whether or not new infrastructure should be constructed or existing infrastructure should be replaced, it is important to consider changing demographics and land use patterns.
C. Financial management tool

A CIP is used to prioritize current and future needs to fit within the anticipated level of financial resources. When looking at capital projects, it is important to consider the operating and maintenance costs that will be incurred with the construction or replacement of infrastructure. A CIP will allow for better financial planning and will smooth the need for sharp increases in tax rates or user fees to cover unexpected repairs, replacements or construction of capital assets.

D. Reporting document

A CIP presents a description of proposed projects that will be undertaken over the planning period. The CIP is used to communicate to citizens the government unit’s capital priorities and plans for implementing projects. It also includes the expected source of funding for projects.
5.2 Capital Budget

Capital Budget is also known as "Investment Decision Making or Capital Expenditure Decisions" or "Planning Capital Expenditure" etc. Normally such decisions where investment of money and expected benefits arising there from are spread over more than one year, it includes both raising of long-term funds as well as their utilization. 
Capital budgets in governments have multiple roles: as instrument of fiscal policy and to improve the net worth of government, and particularly in the area of economic infrastructure as vehicles for economic development. Governments have introduced capital budgets to serve all these objectives, singly or collectively, depending on the context.
Budgeting for capital items is most often associated with longevity, high cost, and major impact. Items that have a useful life extending beyond a single year are considered to have longevity and are candidates for capital budgeting. Such items become fixed assets. Also, high-cost physical items that make a substantial impact on an annual budget if funded in anyone year are candidates for capital budgeting.  Finally, items expected to have a significant impact that are not easily changed are often included within a capital budget. Examples of capital items are land, public buildings, large and expensive equipment, and public improvements, such as streets and sewer, are all items that should be included in a capital budget. 

Capital budgeting is the process of identifying and selecting investments in long-lived assets, or assets expected to produce ben​efits over more than one year. Moreover, capital budgeting is concerned with the firm's formal process for the acquisition and investment of capital. Due to these concepts, capital budgeting is important because of the following reasons:

· Capital budgeting decisions involve long-term implication for the firm.

· Capital budgeting involves commitment of large amount of funds.

· Capital decisions are required to assessment of future events which are uncertain.
· In most cases, capital budgeting decisions are irreversible. This is because it is very difficult to find a market for the capital goods. The only alternative available is to scrap the asset, and incur heavy loss.

· Capital budgeting ensures the selection of right source of finance at the right time.
· Wrong sale forecast; may lead to over or under investment of resources.

5.2.1. Elements of Capital Budgeting
Three major elements exist within a capita1 budget process: (1) planning, (2) cost analysis and (3) financing. Each requires a certain amount of research capability, staffing (either external or internal), organizational capacity, and expertise.  

1. Planning
Effective capital budgeting requires a comprehensive planning effort. This effort includes a number of elements: (1) an inventory of existing capital assets, (2) a review of constituent demands for goods and services in the future, and (3) a review of replacement needs of existing capital assets.

Surprisingly, most public and nonprofit agencies lack a comprehensive inventory of their capital assets. Depending on the size and holdings of the public agency, such a list can be relatively easy to produce or can represent an enormous undertaking. Such an inventory can include some of the following elements: the type of facility or equipment asset; the date the asset was acquired; the initial cost of the asset; any improvements that have been made; the existing condition of the asset; the level of utilization of that land, facility, or equipment; its depreciated value; replacement cost; and the anticipated end of its useful life or replacement date. This inventory can be used as the first step in a risk management program as well as a capital budgeting program. 

Perhaps one of the most difficult parts of a capital budget planning effort is, to develop a clearly defined needs analysis to help the organization determine future demands for capital assets. Information on current and future needs guides where public resources should be directed in acquiring capital asset. Such analysis requires the incorporation of existing replacement needs, a review of shifting external changes, and any anticipated internal changes that affect the need or demand for such capital assets. 

An analysis is used most commonly for major capital improvement projects such as buildings, streets, sewers, and large equipment. In some cases, the approach is similar to the environmental scan elements of strategic planning. The agency should consider factors, both internally and externally, that affect the need associated with capital acquisition. Several factors are incorporated into such analysis. Shifts in population size and location provide indications of where new facilities may be required. This is very common with public school systems, where changes in the number of elementary school children and corresponding changes in the number of high school students may require acquiring some new buildings and closing others. Changes in facility use can also occur.  

Demographic and cultural changes of the existing constituent base and changes in legal requirements can portend increasing demands for services. Changes in federal and state laws affecting health care benefits for the poor and elderly have increased demands for facilities and services, particularly at the state level. 

Planning includes a systematic review of the replacement needs of existing facilities and equipment. Most facilities and equipment have an expected useful life span, which may range from a few years to as many as 40 years. Replacement periods can be based on both wear and tear and usage or on technological obsolescence. Streets, sewers, and front-end loaders are examples of the former, whereas computers, telecommunications equipment, and other electronics equipment exemplify the latter. 

Technological obsolescence does not mean that facilities or equipment do not work or require increased maintenance. It simply means that more recent advances in technology have made the facilities or equipment less useful than new facilities or equipment to meet current and future demands. This is a very different situation from one in which equipment, because of wear and tear, has increasing downtime when it is unavailable or where the maintenance and replacement part costs begin to exceed the actual depreciated value of the equipment itself. Streets that are constantly under repair or buildings with major structural and mechanical problems are recommended strongly as candidates for replacement. 

Replacement schedules should be developed when facilities and equipment are acquired. This allows a public agency to plan years in advance of the actual need for the replacement. This information can also be placed on a capital budgeting calendar so that replacement decisions can be contrasted with decisions for acquisition of new capital assets. 

These replacement schedules should be based on useful life, with a clear understanding of the trade-offs between replacement relative to repair or maintenance and between replacement and modernization. Replacement schedules-which are forecasts, after all-should be adjusted yearly to account for factors that have changed since that schedule was developed. For example, street replacement may be based on assumptions about level of usage. If the usage or wear and tear is greater than originally thought, the replacement schedule should be adjusted to reflect such a change. 

2. Cost analysis- Evaluating Expenditure Decisions
Perhaps the most difficult decision faced by policymakers and administrators is choosing which capital assets to acquire or replace. Most public organizations have limited resources and face legal as well as political restrictions on their ability to raise revenue. For these reasons, a limited number of capital items can be acquired during any one time period. Priorities must be set to fund those that are considered the most important. Importance can be determined by some form of economic analysis or by other concerns (political need, fairness, or visibility). Assuming, however, that some form of systematic analysis is useful, most finance professionals suggest using a systematic method to evaluate the importance of various capital acquisitions. These methods involve numerous criteria-quantitative, qualitative, and political. The key is to match available revenue sources with a wide-ranging set of expenditure options and to match expenditure options to revenue availability. Criteria can be developed that are simple or complex. Among the most common are the following.
· Costs of any particular project, facility, or equipment relative to competing projects, facilities, or equipment 

· Costs relative to benefits for competing projects, facilities, or equipment 

· Relationship of the capital asset to the specific goals and objectives of the organization.

· Financial impact of the project on defined beneficiaries 

· Capital costs relative to operating and maintenance costs 

· Spin-off benefits of the capital asset to other public and private activities 

· Effect on improved efficiency of organizational activities 

· Political costs and benefits of the project 

· Legal mandate of a project or activity mandated by law 

· Chances for external funding 

· Relationship to future needs and demands
Although this list is not exhaustive, it does provide a wide range of criteria to consider when developing an evaluation system. The major focus is deciding which capital assets to fund lies in the area of cost.  

Cost-effectiveness and cost-benefit analysis can be used to compare capital expenditure items. Not all capital expenditures are associated with their cost relative to their benefits; however, many decisions are made on other bases. Other decisions are made on the grounds of equity rather than cost. Providing mass transit facilities in low use areas may make little economic sense. If these areas are also populated by low-income citizens, however, eliminating such facilities simply because they are not economical is often rejected by public agencies responsible for such facilities on the basis of equity. 

Another example pertains to disabled access to public facilities. Retrofitting public buildings or transportation equipment and facilities to allow for disabled access is not the most cost-effective way to ensure particular outcomes; however, it does serve social and political objectives or meet legal requirements that make such expenditures necessary.  

There are many different ways to evaluate capital expenditures. Various factors can be weighted in level of importance and then ranked according to a quantitative system. Opinion surveys can be used along with qualitative analysis to determine level of support for various projects. This is especially helpful if a project or facility is potentially controversial among elected officials or citizens affected. 

3. Financing
No matter how various projects are ranked, rated, or prioritized, the funding of capital items is contingent on adequate revenue. Revenue sources should suffice to encompass both the capital expenditure and the operating or maintenance costs associated with that expenditure. It makes little sense to purchase a piece of equipment if an organization cannot afford to maintain or repair it. 

Two major modes of financing capital projects are pay-as-you-go and pay-as-you-use. The most conservative financing approach is pay-as-you-go. This simply means that the expenditure of funds for a capital item does not occur until the money is in hand. Debt is not incurred to fund all or a part of the capital item. On the other hand, pay-as-you-use proponents argue that financing should occur as the capital asset is used. Incurring debt to fund such an item is logical because the debt can be paid throughout the item's useful life. 

Both approaches may be appropriate, depending on the particular situation facing the organization. Both have inherent strengths and weaknesses. Pay-as-you-go ensures that an organization does not borrow money to finance capital assets. Interest charges are a measure of opportunity cost. Public organizations must choose between more expenditure to have more capital facilities and equipment, which means more revenues, and less expenditure, fewer capital items, and fewer revenues. Unfortunately, fewer expenditures and revenues and more capital items is not possible. If concern exists about borrowing money and incurring debt to obtain capital facilities, the pay-as-you-go approach may be the more acceptable action. 

The disadvantage of pay-as-you-go can be substantial. Many capital items would never be acquired or replaced because funding is simply not available within existing resources of an organization. In this sense, pay-as-you-go discriminates against larger expenditures. In small organizations or where the capital item is expensive, the pay-as-you-go approach can create much greater fluctuations in the budget expenditures from year to year and can also create fluctuations in the revenue load of the organization's supporters. This is not a particular problem for the national government, which has such an enormous budget that anyone capital expenditure is unlikely to have a substantial impact. 
In a small town, however, building a new fire station or paving a street can have a substantial impact. In addition, the concept of intergenerational equity is violated with a Pay-as-you-go approach. This means that those who benefit from the item are not necessarily the ones who finance the asset. For example, if taxpayers in a community use money that had been saved over a period of years to build a recreational center, the beneficiaries of the center may not be the same as those who put their tax dollars toward building it. Some may move away or die. Then, they will have helped pay for a facility that they never have a chance to use. This is considered inequitable. 
Pay-as-you-use financing is beneficial for a number of reasons. First, it helps spread the costs of the capital asset over a number of years, thus making acquisition or more feasible in many cases. It avoids great fluctuations in expenditures and revenues. Second, it provides for intergenerational equity by allowing those paying taxes or user fees for a particular capital expenditure to have access to that item. 

There are dangers associated with the pay-as-you-use approach. The greatest concern is that financing of capital items might exceed the useful life of that asset. In other words, a public agency should not finance a piece of equipment for 10 years if it is likely that the equipment will need to be replaced in 5 years. Such borrowing can place the agency in a financially precarious situation, where it is using current revenues to pay for capital assets that no longer exist.

 Several options exist for public agencies that do not wish to rely exclusively on either pay-as-you-go or pay-as-you-use. One approach would be to use a substantial down payment for a capital expenditure and to finance the remainder through borrowing. In this way the amount financed through debt can be reduced, yet intergenerational equity can be partially protected. A similar approach is to shorten the maturity date of the debt that is issued to finance capital acquisition so that debt costs are minimized and items are funded before the end of their useful lives. 

Another option is to set up a sinking fund that can cover costs associated with replacing a capital item. Money is put into the fund yearly. This is similar to debt in extended funding and is used extensively in replacing equipment and other short- or intermediate-lived capital items. The money can be invested in interest-bearing accounts, and the principal and interest can accumulate at the rate such that at the time a capital asset must be replaced, funding necessary to pay for that replacement is readily available. It is extremely important that when such funds are created, they are maintained separate and distinct from other funds. It is often tempting to raid these funds to help cover the costs of other operating items within the budget or to deal with other concerns, such as revenue shortfalls. 

Under certain circumstances, leasing provides an attractive alternative to either financing approach. This is a variant of pay-as-you-use, because ownership is not involved. When a capital asset is likely to have a very short useful life, as is the case  with certain kinds of equipment (automobiles and computers and so forth), or whether the financing costs (both for incurring debt and for servicing and  maintenance) will be clearly lower, leasing is an alternative to acquisition. In many instances, a public agency can obtain title to the capital asset at the end of a lease at a minimal cost. The disadvantage to this, however, is that the asset may have reached the end of its useful life at the end of this period. 

5.2.2. Administration of the Capital Budgeting Process
Administration of the capital budgeting process is often shared among operating, planning, and finance officials. Each group has an important role to play. Operating departments within public organizations funnel requests for capital items to their financial officials. Those responsible for planning within the public organization review trends and developments as they affect the need for various capital projects, facilities, and equipment and submit this information along with the various requests that are made. The finance officials must provide a critical review of each request, provide evaluative criteria for ranking the relative importance of each, and determine a financing system to fund the most important items.  

In most instances, a 5-to-l0-year capital improvement plan is submitted to the policy board of an agency for its review and approval. This multiyear plan includes all major capital construction and acquisition projects scheduled during that time. The capital budget includes the revenue and expenditure amounts for capital items that are to be constructed or acquired during the coming year. In most instances, a capital improvement plan is revised and approved each year along with a capital budget. 

A major problem of capital budgeting is that some perceive it as a static process. Once a five-year capital budget plan is adopted, some in the agency assume that they do not have to deal with it again for another five years. In fact, the capital budgeting process is a dynamic one. As an organization's financial situation changes and as environmental factors change, it is important that the capital budget plan reflects these changes. At a minimum, the plan must be updated annually to reflect shifting priorities and concerns. 

Another problem is that many public agencies treat the capital budgeting process as a paper exercise and often ignore it during the annual budget process. This is often the case for local government officials when state or federal law mandates some type of capital budgeting process but elected officials are not convinced of its appropriateness and do not participate in the development of the capital budget themselves. This is especially evident when the later years of a capital budget are populated with the same proposals as in the initial year, none of them either chosen or dropped. The key can be to link some form of strategic planning to the agency's budget process, including the capital budgeting process.

Chapter Six
Government Accounting and Financial Reporting

This chapter provides an overview of governmental accounting and financial reporting. Government Accounting refers to all the financial documents and records of public institutions that relate to the collection of tax payers money, control of expenditure, administration of trust funds, management of government stores and all the financial responsibilities and duties of the relevant organs. 

Government accounting includes the process of recording, analyzing, classifying, summarizing, communicating and interpreting financial information about government in aggregate and in details reflecting transactions and other economic events involving the receipt, spending, transfer, usability and disposition of assets and liabilities.   

Recording- It involves the process of documenting the financial transactions and activities in the necessary books of accounts such as cash book, and ledger. 

Analyzing- It involves the process of separating transactions according to their distinct nature and posting them under appropriate heads and sub-heads. 

Classifying- It has to do with the grouping of the transactions into revenue and expense descriptions and bringing them under major classes as, Revenue Head and Sub-heads, with their relevant code numbers of accounts. 

Summarizing – It concerns the bringing together of all the classes of accounts and preparing them into reports periodically as are statutorily or organizationally required. 

Communicating- It is about making available financial reports on all the government financial activities from the necessary accounting summaries to various interested parties. The style of communication adopted should be un-ambiguous, lucid and devoid of jargons as much as possible.

Interpreting- It ends the process by giving explanations on what has been reported in the various financial statements and reports, as regards the overall operations and performance of the relevant government organization(s). This is to enable the necessary parties and users to take relevant decisions based on their assessments of the reports.
The purposes of government accounting are:

· To carry out the financial business of government in a timely, efficient and reliable manner (e.g. to make payments, settle liabilities, collect sums due, buy and sell assets etc.) subject to necessary financial controls.

· To keep systematic, easily accessible accounting and documentary records as evidence of past transactions and current financial status, so that detailed transactions can be identified and traced and all aggregates can be conveniently broken down into their constituent parts. 
· To provide periodic financial statements, containing appropriately classified financial information, as a basis for (a) stewardship and accountability and (b) decision-making.

· To maintain financial records suitable for budgetary control, internal control and the needs of auditors.

· To provide means for effective management of government assets, liabilities, expenditures and revenues.

6.1. The Accounting Process

Accounting, as an information system is the process of identifying, measuring and communicating the economic information of an organization to its users who need the information for decision making. It identifies transactions and events of a specific entity. A transaction is an exchange in which each participant receives or sacrifices value (e.g. purchase of raw material). An event (whether internal or external) is a happening of consequence to an entity (e.g. use of raw material for production). An entity means an economic unit that performs economic activities.  Moreover, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) which defines accounting as “the art of recording, classifying and summarizing in a significant manner and in terms of money, transactions and events, which are, in part at least of a financial character and interpreting the results thereof”.  Therefore, the process of accounting involves recording, classifying and summarizing of past events and transactions of financial nature, with a view to enabling the user of accounts to interpret the resulting summary. 
Accounting Process includes the following:

1. Identifying business transactions/events which are of financial nature.

2. Prepare the source documents for the transaction (i.e. receipts, invoices and checks)

3. Analyze and classify the transaction. Determine; (i) the transaction amount in monetary terms; (ii) the ledger accounts that are affected by the transaction; (iii) the account(s) to be debited and the account(s) to be credited.

4. Record the transaction details into the appropriate journal. A journal records the debit and credit details of a transaction in a chronological (date and time) order. It also records the account name and the account number that is allocated by the chart of accounts. Common journals are; cash receipts journal, cash payments (disbursement) journal; sales journal; purchased journal and general journal.

5. Post the details from the journals to the general ledger where all the accounts are kept. The summary details are transferred (posted) from the journals to the general ledger. Ledgers are kept by account types (i.e. Electricity, Cash, and Accounts Payable)

6. Summarizing transactions/events (Trial balance, Income statement and Balance sheet)

The trial balance lists and summarizes all the general ledger account balances to ensure that the total of the debit balances equals the total of the credit balances. The sum total is not meaningful. The important thing is simply that the totals of both columns (debits and credits) agree. A balanced trial balance ensures that there were no recording errors. However, it does not guarantee that the amounts are correct, (i.e. the right amounts may have been posted to the wrong accounts). Correct the discrepancies identified from trial balance if required.

The income statement, also called an earnings statement or a profit and loss statement, is an accounting statement that matches a company’s revenues with its expenses over a period of time, usually a quarter or a year. Thus, the revenue on a first quarter income statement equals the cumulated amount of all sales during the first three months of the firm’s fiscal year. The revenue on the second quarter income statement equals the cumulated amount of all sales during the second three months of the firm’s fiscal year. The same applies to expenses and therefore profits. The components of the income statement involve a company’s recognition of income and the expenses related to earning this income. Revenue less expenses results in a profit or loss.

The balance sheet is a listing of the organization’s assets, liabilities, and owners’ equity at a point in time. In this sense, the balance sheet is like a snapshot of the organization’s financial position, frozen at a specific point in time. The balance sheet is sometimes called the statement of financial position because it summarizes the entity’s resources (assets), obligations (liabilities), and owners’ claims (owners’ equity).

Total Assets = Total Liabilities + Owner’s Equity.

7. Analyzing and interpreting transactions/events.

8. Communication/reporting transaction/events
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(i) Internal users: Top, middle and bottom level of management executives are the internal users of accounting information. They need it for making decisions. These users are interested in the profitability, operational efficiency and financial soundness of the business. The top-level management is concerned with accounting information related to planning, the middle level is interested in planning and controlling and the lower level with operational affairs.

(ii) External users: External users may have direct interest or indirect interest.

(a) External users having direct interest: The existing and the prospective creditors and investors have direct interest in the accounting information. The sources of information for external users are financial statements and reports of Directors and Auditors. Investors assess the financial soundness and net worth of the business so that they may decide about buying, selling or holding investment in the business. Creditors, such as banks, lenders, debenture holders and financial institutions assess the risk involved in granting loans, servicing of the existing loans to the business.

(b) External users having indirect interest: These users such as registrar of joint stock companies, sales tax and income tax authorities, labor unions, prospective customers, stock exchange’s trade associations and others who are interested in the affairs of the business. They have to make their own decision on the basis of the financial reports of the business.

6.2 Account Types

An account has been defined as a formal record of a particular type of transaction expressed in money. An account is summarized record or statement of all transactions relating to a particular person, properties and assets, incomes and expenses. 

The accounts falling under the transactions relating to persons are known as ‘personal Accounts’. The accounts falling under the transactions relating to properties and assets are known as ‘Real Accounts’. The accounts falling under the transactions relating to incomes and expenses are called ‘Nominal Accounts’. The accounts can also be classified as personal and impersonal. The following chart will show the various types of accounts:

Figure 5.1 Types of Accounts 
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1. Personal Accounts: Accounts recording transactions with a person or group of persons are known as personal accounts. These accounts are necessary, in particular, to record credit transactions. Personal accounts are of the following types:

(a) Natural persons: An account recording transactions with an individual human being is termed as a natural persons’ personal account. eg., Abebe’s account, Semira’s account, Toffa’s accounts. 

(b) Artificial or legal persons: An account recording financial transactions with an artificial person created by law or otherwise is termed as an artificial person, personal account, e.g. Firms’ accounts, limited companies’ accounts, educational institutions’ accounts, Co-operative society account.

(c) Groups/Representative personal Accounts: An account indirectly representing a person or persons is known as representative personal account. When accounts are of a similar nature and their number is large, it is better to group them under one head and open a representative personal account e.g., prepaid insurance, outstanding salaries, rent, wages etc. When a person starts a business, he is known as proprietor. This proprietor is represented by capital account for that entire he invests in business and by drawings accounts for all that which he withdraws from business. So, capital accounts and drawings account are also personal accounts.

The rule for personal accounts is: Debit the receiver

Credit the giver

2 Real Accounts: Accounts relating to properties or assets are known as ‘Real Accounts’, A separate account is maintained for each asset e.g., Cash Machinery, Building, etc., Real accounts can be further classified into tangible and intangible.

(a) Tangible Real Accounts: These accounts represent assets and properties which can be seen, touched, felt, measured, purchased and sold. e.g. Machinery account, Furniture account, stock account etc.

(b) Intangible Real Accounts: These accounts represent assets and properties which cannot be seen, touched or felt but they can be measured in terms of money. e.g., Goodwill accounts, patents account, Trademarks account, Copyrights account, etc.

The rule for Real accounts is: Debit what comes in

Credit what goes out
3 Nominal Accounts: Accounts relating to revenue and expenses are termed as nominal accounts. These accounts are also known as fictitious accounts as they do not represent any tangible asset. A separate account is maintained for each head or expense or loss and gain or income. Wages account, Rent account, Commission account, Interest received account are some examples of nominal account

The rule for Nominal accounts is: Debit all expenses and losses

Credit all incomes and gains

6.3. Fund Structure and Fund Types

6.3.1 Fund Structure 

The word "fund" in government has taken several meanings or connotations. It is sometimes used to refer an appropriation which is a legislative authorization to spend or an allotment which is an authorization by the Department of Budget and Management (DBM) to obligate, or as actual cash available. A fund is defined in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB, 1999) as a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts recording cash and other financial resources, together with all related liabilities and residual equities or balances, and changes therein, which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions, or limitations. 

For governmental entities to ensure the proper segregation of resources and to maintain proper accountability, an entity's accounting system should be organized and operated on a fund basis. Each fund is a separate fiscal entity and is established to conduct specific activities and objectives in accordance with statutes, laws, regulations, and restrictions or for specific purposes. 
6.3.2. Fund Types

There are three broad categories of funds used in governmental accounting.  
I. Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are used to account for most typical governmental functions. The acquisition, use, and balances of the state's expendable financial resources and the related current liabilities are accounted for through governmental funds. Budgets work on the premise of money coming in for the year and money going out for the same period. 

Types of government funds 

· General fund- It is the main operating fund of the government. It accounts for typical, day to day activities of government such as safety, planning etc. General operating expenditures, fixed charges and capital improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the General Fund. 
· Special revenue fund are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue resources that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. E.g Road & Bridge Fund, Shelter Care Fund, Law Enforcement Training Fund etc.
· Capital project fund. This is a financial resource to be used for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities, such as purchase or construction of assets. 
· Debt service fund- the accumulation of resources for the payment of general long-term debt principal and interest.  

The four sub funds within the basic governmental category (general, special revenue, capital project, debt service) ../../../AppData/Local/Temp/C3-glossary.html - defn:account%20groupscan actually be designed to work together to operate the diverse activities of government. For instance, the capital project funds can be used to account for the construction or purchase of a large building. This capital project fund might be used to track the money borrowed and spent for the building. The debt incurred would be recorded in the account group (specifically, the long term debt account group). The long term or fixed asset, that is, the building, would be listed in the account groups (namely, the fixed asset account group). As interest expense and principle came due, money could be transferred from the general fund to the debt service fund to pay the debt. That year the general fund would, presumably, have to raise enough revenue to transfer to the debt service fund to handle any interest expense and principle due. 

II. Proprietary 

These funds are sometimes referred to as "income determination," or "commercial-type" funds. These funds are used to account for a government's ongoing organizations and activities that are similar to those often found in the private sector. The generally accepted accounting principles here are those applicable to similar businesses in the private sector; and the measurement focus is on determination of net income, financial position, and changes in financial position. 
Types of proprietary funds

a. Enterprise Funds
The Enterprise Funds are used for activities which are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprise where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services (utilities, airports, seaports, public housing, municipal solid waste landfills etc) to the general public, on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges. The governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes. 

	


Government entities must use an Enterprise Fund if one of the following criteria is met:

· Activity financed solely with revenue from specific activity and debt secured by such Revenue

· Laws require activity’s cost must be recovered by fees and charges rather than general taxes

· Pricing policies of activity designed to recover its costs. These requirements are designed to include all activities that are supposed to be self-supporting
b. Internal Service Funds

Internal service funds, as their title indicates, one government entity provides goods or services (printing service, Computer center, Printing department, and Central garage) to other governmental entity, department, agencies on a cost-reimbursement basis. 

The operations of internal service funds resemble those of a business enterprise, except that internal service funds are not profit-motivated. The revenues of internal service funds should be sufficient to cover all their operating costs and expenses, with perhaps a modest profit margin. In this way, the resources of internal service funds are “revolving”; the original contribution from the general fund of the governmental entity to establish an internal service fund is expended for supplies, operating equipment, employees’ salaries or wages, and other operating expenses, and the amounts expended then are recoup through billings to other funds of the governmental entity.

III. Fiduciary 

Fiduciary funds, which include funds the government holds for others as a trustee or an agent to the owner (individuals, private organizations, other governmental units, and/or other funds).  These include:

a. Pension (and other employee benefit) Trust Funds - To account for resources that are required to be held in trust for the members and beneficiaries of defined benefit pension plans, defined contribution plans, other post-employment benefit plans, or other employee benefit plans
b. Investment Trust Funds - Governmental entities such as counties and states often maintain external investment pool, similar to the pooled investments of the various funds of nonprofit organizations. 

c. Agency Funds – Government receives funds from third parties & pays those funds to others. In this case the government might collect taxes for another government, keep an administrative fee for doing the collection, and pass the rest of the money on to the other government. 
One of the concepts associated with fiduciary funds is expendable and nonexpendable money. An expendable trust fund is one who’s principal and income both may be expended to achieve the objectives of the trust. A nonexpendable trust fund is one whose revenues are expended to carry out the objectives of the trust; the principal remains intact. For example, an endowment established by the grantor of a trust may specify that the revenues from the endowment are to be expended by the governmental entity for student scholarships, but the endowment principal is not to be expended. 

6.4. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

6.4.1 Basis of Accounting
These refer to how the transaction of government are recognized and recorded in the accounting books. Some common bases of accounts that are used are

1. Cash basis

2. Accrual or Mercantile basis

3. Mixed or Hybrid basis.

1. Accounting on Cash basis

The cash basis of accounting embraces the movement of cash as the basis of recognizing income and expenses. Once money is received, income is recognized, whether the goods or services have been supplied or not. On the other hand, an expense is recognized as having been made once payment is made, whether benefit has been received or not. In other words, income is recognized as it is received in the form of cash and expenditure is recognized as money is paid. No difference is shown in the treatment of capital and revenue expenditure. Fixed assets are not treated as capital expenditure items. They are written off as revenue expenditure in the years of purchase. Main characteristics of cash basis of accounting: 

· It is very simple to develop an accounting system based on the mere recording of cash receipts and payments. 

· Financial statements generated with this technique are not complicated; they are very understandable and the accounting does not require the making of estimates for depreciation or doubtful debts, or adjustments for accruals and prepayments. 

· It facilitates fiscal stewardship in that in public sector where the concept of cash limit is used in budgeting the use of resources, compliance can be determined easily. 

· The concept does not make for proper measurement of performance. It is not easy to measure the physical work produced and the assets consumed in doing that within a period of time. The technique does not recognize the time when resources are used. 

· Performance under this approach is poorly measured since recognition is given to the use of limited cash in any service delivery. The cash basis stresses the economy of a service very much, and does not consider the efficiency and effectiveness in service delivery. 

· In accounting for the existing resources of government, only cash and near cash items are shown on the balance sheet. No fixed assets such as buildings and vehicles are shown. 

· Government’s final accounts are prepared, using only movement of cash as a means of determining income and expenses. 

2. Accrual Basis of Accounting or Mercantile System

Under accrual basis of accounting, accounting entries are made on the basis of amounts having become due for payment or receipt. Incomes are credited to the period in which they are earned whether cash is received or not. Similarly, expenses and losses were detailed to the period in which, they are incurred, whether cash is paid or not. 

Accrual basis of accounting uses the notion of legal obligation to record financial transactions. Once there is a legally binding contract for the receipt of, or render of service, recognition will be given to the income or expenditure arising out of the contract. The recognition of revenue or expenditure under this technique does not depend on the point in time when cash moves as either receipt or payment, as with the cash basis.

The concept states that the transactions and events of entities should always be recorded in the periods in which the services are rendered or received, rather than in the periods in which cash is received or paid. This basis of accounting leads to the recognition of credit transactions in the preparation of the financial statements of a public sector organization. 

The accrual basis recognizes revenue is earned when a benefit has been given and the giver is entitled legally to receive compensation for the benefit given. Expenses on the other hand, are recognized when incurred rather than paid. Expenses are incurred when uses of the benefits are obliged legally to pay in exchange. 

The accrual concept leads to the making of adjustments in financial statements, especially when expected compensation has been given for benefit not received or rendered, or when benefit has been rendered or received without the passing of the compensation.
The arguments for accrual accounting are as follows:

· Cash accounting does not generate enough useful information e.g. about payables and receivables. However, accrual accounting provides adequate information on the full costs of operation, thus supporting decision-making e.g. decisions either to place sub-contracts with private sector contractors or to carry out the work in-house. 

· Accrual accounting generates reliable information on the full range of assets and liabilities.

· Accrual accounting can generate comprehensive financial information about government e.g. a loan which is written off has no impact on a cash-based statement, but under accrual accounting it diminishes net worth.

3. Mixed or Hybrid Basis of Accounting

Certain items of revenue or expenditure are recorded in the books of account on cash basis and certain items on accrual basis, the basis of accounting so employed is called ‘hybrid basis of accounting’. For example, a company may follow accrual system of accounting in respect of its export business. However, government subsidies and duty drawbacks on exports to be received from government are recorded only when they are actually received i.e., on cash basis. Such a method could be adopted because of uncertainty with respect of quantum, amount and time of receipt of such incentives and drawbacks. Such a method of accounting followed by the company is called the hybrid basis of accounting. In practice, the profit or loss shown under this basis will not be realistic. Conservative people prefer to recognizing income when received but cautious to provide for all expenses, whether paid or not prefer this system. It is not widely practiced due to the inconsistency.

6.4.2 Measurement Focus

Measurement focus is commonly used to describe the types of transactions and events that are reported in a fund’s operating statement.

a. Current Financial Resources

Governmental funds use the current financial resources measurement focus of accounting. Transactions and events that have increased or decreased resources available for spending in the near future, even though they have no effect on net assets, are reported on the governmental funds operating statements. Examples include the issuance of debt, debt service principal payments and capital outlay.

b. Economic Resources

Proprietary funds and trust funds use the economic resources focus of accounting. Transactions and events that have increased or decreased a fund’s net assets during the period, for instance revenues, expenses, gains and losses, are reported on the proprietary and trust fund financial statements. Net assets (total assets minus total liabilities) are used as a measure of economic resources. Transactions that do not affect net assets are not reported on the fund’s operating statement. Examples include the issuance of debt, debt service principal payments and capital outlay.

E.g. Table 5.1 Reveal the Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting for Financial Statements 

	Financial Statements
	Measurement Focus
	Basis of Accounting

	Government wide Financial Statements
	Economic Resources
	Accrual

	Governmental Funds Financial Statements
	Current Financial Resources
	Modified Accrual/ it is better to say Mixed

	Proprietary Funds Financial Statements
	Economic Resources
	Accrual

	Fiduciary Funds Financial Statements
	Economic Resources
	Accrual


6.5. Financial Reports (Interim and Annual)

Financial reporting is presenting financial data of a company's operating performance, position and cash flow statements for an accounting period. Every public organization has responsibility to provide financial reports to its citizens, creditors, and other financial report users.   As public servants, government organization must maintain internal control systems to provide reasonable assurance that the financial reports are accurate and free from bias; contain nothing that would mislead; prepared in accordance with the highest standards; and comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and generally accepted accounting principles. 

Financial report is important for governments to provide effective financial information to constituencies in a consistent and clear format. Specifically, the information provided by governments should contribute to accountability in the following areas: 

· Financial position and results of operations 

· Actual financial results compared with adopted budgets 

· Compliance with finance-related laws, rules and regulations 

· Efficiency and effectiveness of operations 

· Maintenance of governmental assets 

Financial statements are usually compiled on a quarterly and annual basis. The compiled financial report should be simple and easily understood.  Additionally, the reports should be all inclusive and should have a point of comparison, such as a comparison to the budget or to last year’s figures.  Finally, the reports should provide the needed detail for decision making and should be developed in accordance with the bylaws of the organization. 

6.5.1 Interim Financial Reports 
Interim period is a financial reporting period shorter than a full financial year. Interim financial report means a financial report containing either a complete set of financial statements or a set of condensed financial statements. 
In the interest of timeliness and cost considerations and to avoid repetition of information previously reported, an enterprise may be required to or may elect to present less information at interim dates as compared with its annual financial statements. The interim financial report containing condensed financial statements is intended to provide an update on the latest annual financial statements. Accordingly, it focuses on new activities, events, and circumstances and does not duplicate information previously reported.
An interim financial report should include, at a minimum, the following components:
· Condensed balance sheet;

· Condensed statement of profit and loss;

· Condensed cash flow statement

· Selected explanatory notes- A user of an organization's interim financial report will ordinarily have access to the most recent annual financial report of that organization. It is, therefore, not necessary for the notes to an interim financial report to provide relatively insignificant updates to the information that was already reported in the notes in the most recent annual financial report. At an interim date, an explanation of events and transactions that are significant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and performance of the organization since the last annual reporting date is more useful.
If an organization prepares and presents a set of condensed financial statements in its interim financial report, those condensed statements should include, at a minimum, each of the headings and sub-headings that were included in its most recent annual financial statements and the selected explanatory notes as required by standard. 
An organization should include the following information, as a minimum, in the notes to its interim financial statements, if material and if not disclosed elsewhere in the interim financial report:

· A statement that the same accounting policies are followed in the interim financial statements as those followed in the most recent annual financial statements or, if those policies have been changed, a description of the nature and effect of the change;

· Explanatory comments about the seasonality of interim operations;

· the nature and amount of items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income, or cash flows that are unusual because of their nature, size, or incidence;

· The nature and amount of changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim periods of the current financial year or changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior financial years, if those changes have a material effect in the current interim period;

· Material events subsequent to the end of the interim period that have not been reflected in the financial statements for the interim period;

· Material changes in contingent liabilities since the last annual balance sheet date.
An organization may not prepare and present a separate financial report for the final interim period because the annual financial statements are presented. In such a case, if an estimate of an amount reported in an interim period is changed significantly during the final interim period of the financial year but a separate financial report is not prepared and presented for that final interim period, the nature and amount of that change in estimate should be disclosed in a note to the annual financial statements for that financial year.

6.5.2 Annual Financial Reports 

The annual report is a report issued to a company's shareholders, creditors, and regulatory organizations following the end of its fiscal year. The purpose is to describe their operations and financial conditions of an entity. 
A comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) should be prepared covering all activities of the primary government and providing an overview of its discretely presented component units. It should contain the following sections:

1. Introductory section. The introductory section includes the table of contents and letter of transmittal. 
2. Financial section. The financial section includes:

· The independent auditor's report; Auditors must make a brief report to confirm that the accounts give a true and fair view of the firm’s financial position. They also have to certify that the accounts are drawn up in accordance with the requirements of the Companies accounting standard.
· Management's discussion and analysis (MD&A) - The MD&A, which is classified as required supplementary information, is a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the government’s financial statements. It focuses on the primary government and is objective, easily readable, and based on currently known facts and conditions. The MD&A introduces the basic financial statements, describing the statements and their relationship to one another. With emphasis on the current year, it presents condensed comparative data and an analysis of the overall financial position of the government as well as an analysis of significant balances and operations of individual funds. The MD&A presents budget variances, significant capital asset (including infrastructure) and debt activity, and other potentially significant matters.

· Basic financial statements:

I. Government-wide financial statements. It consists of a statement of net assets and a statement of activities. Those statements should measure and report all assets (both financial and capital), liabilities, revenues, expenses, gains, and losses. 

II. Fund financial statements. Government, proprietary and fiduciary funds should be presented separately.

III. Notes to the financial statements. The notes to the financial statements should communicate information essential for fair presentation of the financial statements that is not displayed on the face of the financial statements. Notes including those relating to accounting policies and other statements and explanatory material that are an integral part of the financial statements. The notes should focus on the primary government specifically, its governmental activities, business-type activities, major funds, and non major funds in the aggregate. 

· Required supplementary information (RSI), other than MD&A. It consists of schedules, statistical data, and other information those are an essential part of financial reporting and should be presented with, but are not part of the basic financial statements of a governmental entity.

3. Statistical section. The statistical section may include the following information: 

· Financial Trends- it helps the reader understand how the government’s financial performance and well-being have changed over time.
· Revenue Capacity-this information helps the reader to assess the government’s most significant revenue sources:
· Debt Capacity-this information helps the reader to assess the affordability of the government’s current levels of outstanding debt and the government’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 
· Operating Information-These contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in the government’s financial report relates to the services the government’s provides and the activities it performs.
· Demographic and Economic Information-These offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment within which the government’s financial activities take place.
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